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Serica Energy plc  
(‘Serica’ or ‘the Company’)  
Results for the year ended 31 December 2024 
 
London, 1 April 2025 - Serica Energy plc (AIM: SQZ), a British independent upstream oil and gas 
company with operations in the UK North Sea, today announces its audited financial results for the 
year ended 31 December 2024. The results are included below and copies are available at www.serica-
energy.com and www.sedar.com. 
 
Chris Cox, Serica's CEO, stated: 
"The highly positive results of the drilling campaign at Triton are not yet being reflected in our 
production and cashflow due to ongoing issues at the Triton FPSO. Our frustration is exacerbated by 
the fact that the Triton area alone could be delivering up to 30,000 boepd net to Serica with the 
addition of the wells already drilled.  
 
We are confident, after detailed discussions with the Operator, Dana, of the work required to fix the 
issues, and we are pleased that the joint venture has agreed a plan to take advantage of the current 
downtime to bring forward the maintenance work scope originally scheduled for July. This removes 
the need for a summer maintenance shutdown, which combined with the activities undertaken should 
significantly increase uptime going forward.  
 
I have previously stated my confidence in the excellence of the Serica subsurface team and the 
potential of the rocks across our portfolio, and we have increasing clarity on the work needed to 
convert that potential into shareholder value. Ongoing analysis has seen a small decrease in our 2P 
reserves but materially increased our 2C resources – and there is more to come as work continues. 
This indicates the strength of our organic pipeline, with a clear route to converting resources to 
reserves – the Kyle redevelopment looks particularly attractive, and multiple infill drilling 
opportunities around the Bruce Hub have been identified.  
 
With the above in mind, we have elected to implement a prudent rebalancing of our capital allocation 
approach, giving us increased flexibility over the medium-term to allocate capital to the areas where 
it will deliver best value for shareholders. This adjustment will allow us to invest in the exciting drilling 
and development programmes in our portfolio and be opportunistic in accretive M&A, all while 
retaining our highly competitive shareholder distributions.”   
 
Results summary ($ million unless stated) 

 2024 2023 

Average realised Brent oil price ($/bbl) 75 67 
Average realised gas price (pence per therm) 76 94 

Production (boepd)1 34,600 40,100 

Revenue1  727 917 

Operating costs 330 273 

EBITDAX 379 475 

Cash Tax paid 153 348 

Adjusted CFFO less tax 403 250 

Capital expenditure2 260 97 

Free cash flow (1) 16 

Cash 148 335 

Total debt 219 271 

Adjusted Net (debt) / cash3 (83) 99 

Final dividend declared (pence per share) 10 14 

Attributable shareholder returns4 114 112 

http://www.serica-energy.com/
http://www.serica-energy.com/
http://www.sedar.com/
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1 2023 figures are pro forma following the completion of Tailwind acquisition on 23 March 2023 
2 Includes pre-FID expenditure on E&E assets 
3 Net of unamortised fees; See Reconciliation of non-IFRS measures 
4 Attributable shareholder returns reflects Interim and Final Dividends in respect of the relevant year plus quantum of 
share buybacks  
 
Highlights 
Working to deliver more reliable and predictable production  

• Production of 34,600 boepd in 2024 (2023 pro forma: 40,100 boepd), of which 64% was gas, 
impacted by unscheduled downtime at the Triton FPSO 

• Production of c.27,600 boepd in Q1 2025, at a reduced level due to the shutdown of the Triton 
FPSO in February and March 

• Following discussions with Dana Petroleum, the operator, the Triton joint venture partners 
have decided to bring forward the summer maintenance period, integrating it into the current 
work programme  

- This will deliver increased uptime for the remainder of the year versus previous 
expectations  

- Production from Triton is now expected to resume in June, with no further planned 
shutdowns in 2025 

- The availability of the second compressor upon resumption will also mitigate the cause 
of instability that impacted 2024 

 
Positive subsurface results set to boost production 

• With our ongoing drilling programme, Serica was one of the most active operators of 
development drilling in the UK North Sea last year and remains so in 2025 

• Initial results from this drilling activity have been encouraging, and the Triton FPSO produced 
over 25,000 boepd net to Serica on 23 January 2025, the day prior to production halting in the 
aftermath of Storm Éowyn, boosted by production from the first two wells in the five well 
Triton drilling campaign, Bittern B6 and Gannet GE05 

• Drilling on the subsequent two wells, the W7Z well on the Guillemot North West field (Serica: 
10%) and the EV02 well on the Evelyn field (Serica: 100%), is now complete, with both wells 
showing encouraging results 

- W7Z is set to be hooked up for production shortly after the restart of production, with 
EV02 to then follow  

• The COSL Innovator rig has now relocated and drilling has begun on the BE01 well on the 
Belinda field (Serica 100%), the final well of the campaign, with first production expected in 
early 2026  

 
Material increase in 2C resources 

• 2P reserves of 117.5 mmboe as at end-2024 (140 mmboe at end-2023), broadly evenly split 
between oil (55.1 mmboe) and gas (62.4 mmboe), following production of 12 mmboe in 2024 

• Rigorous subsurface reassessment of the portfolio, focused on identifying deliverable 
opportunities, has resulted in a material increase in 2C resources to 88.7 mmboe at end-2024 
(30.3 mmboe at end-2023), with the potential to convert significant resources into reserves 
in the medium-term 

• Work is continuing across the portfolio to high-grade the identified opportunities, with capital 
allocation to focus on those projects that can deliver maximum value to shareholders 

 
Profitable and cash generative despite active investment programme 

• Profit before tax of $160 million (2023: $380 million) with reduction largely reflecting lower 
volumes sold and slightly reduced realised pricing largely driven by lower realised gas prices 
and increased gas mix (2024 61% gas as compared to 2023 pro forma 51%) 
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• Profit after tax of $92 million (2023 $128 million) reflecting a lower P&L tax rate benefitting 
from the combined impact of loss pool and active capital investment programme 

• Adjusted CFFO less tax increased on the prior year to $403 million in 2024 (2023: $250 million), 
as a result of a significantly lower current tax charge in 2024 due to group relief effects 
resulting from the Q4 Triton performance 

• Cash tax paid in 2024 of $153 million (2023: $348 million)  
- Group relief in 2024 led to an overpayment of cash tax under the Instalment Payment 

Regulations. This will result in a $71 million cash tax rebate in 2025 
• No cash tax payment was made in the January 2025 instalment, and Serica expects significantly 

reduced cash tax payments in 2025  
 
Robust balance sheet and continued tax losses shelter supports investment in growth and returns 

• Peer leading Balance Sheet strength with year-end leverage (Adjusted Net Debt to EBITDAX) 
of 0.2x (2023: Net Cash) 

• No near-term expenditure on decommissioning activities, with year-end decommissioning 
provision of $146 million maintaining Serica’s position as having the lowest decommissioning 
liability per 2P boe compared to all our UK and wider North Sea peers5 

• As at 31 December 2024, Serica retained over $1 billion of recognised ring fence tax losses 
resulting in a year end Deferred Tax Asset of $577 million; upon completion of the Parkmead 
(E&P) Limited (‘Parkmead’) acquisition Group tax losses will be increased by c.25% 

• Cash of $141 million as at latest practicable date of 27 March 2025 (31 December 2024: $148 
million), with borrowings of $219 million, essentially flat Net Debt from year end 
notwithstanding the continued capex programme and lack of Triton production in February 
and March 

• Final dividend declared today of 10 pence per share (2023: 14 pence per share) subject to 
approval at Serica’s 2025 AGM 

- The final dividend is payable on 25 July 2025 to shareholders registered on 27 June 2025, 
with an ex-dividend date of 26 June 2025 

• Final dividend equates to an estimated $50 million6, bringing total shareholder returns in 
respect of 2024 to $114 million (including interim dividend of $45 million and $19 million of 
share buybacks), consistent with the comparable figure for 2023 of $112 million 

- The Company has elected to adjust the final dividend as part of a prudent rebalancing of 
the capital allocation mix  

- This rebalancing enhances flexibility to allocate capital to those areas where it will deliver 
best value for shareholders, combining a highly competitive level of shareholder returns 
with investment in exciting growth opportunities and retaining a resilient financial frame 

- Serica additionally retains capacity within its shareholder authorities to carry out further 
share buybacks as part of its capital allocation strategy and will look to renew these 
authorities at its 2025 AGM  

 
Focused and disciplined value accretive M&A strategy 

• Acquisition of Parkmead announced in December, providing optionality regarding future 
projects and bringing with it carried forward tax loss balances. The deal is moving towards 
completion, with NSTA consent now received 

• The Company continues to be very active in screening cash-generative and value accretive 
M&A opportunities in both the UK North Sea and other geographies. Serica will remain 
disciplined and will only conclude transactions with a demonstrable investment case and 
potential to deliver material value to shareholders 

 
Outlook and guidance 

• Following operational issues at Triton in Q1, production guidance for 2025 has been amended 
to 33,000-37,000 boepd 
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- With maintenance work at the Triton FPSO set to complete in June, and no summer 
shutdown to then follow, portfolio production in H2 is forecast to be materially ahead of 
the full-year 2025 guidance range  

• Capital expenditure and opex guidance unchanged, at $220-250 million and c.$330 million 
respectively  

• Poised for material cash flows, supporting Serica's strategy and track record of delivering 
direct returns of capital to investors through a mixture of a material dividend and, selectively, 
share buy backs  

• Work is ongoing regarding a potential move from the AIM to the Main Market of the LSE in 
2025 

 
5Serica defines its peers as listed independent E&P companies with material asset positions in the UK, Norway and 
Denmark 
6 Approximated based on 10p per share and TVR ex Treasury shares as of 7 March and US$:GBP FX rate of 1.29 
 
Regulatory 
This announcement is inside information for the purposes of Article 7 of Regulation 596/2014. 
 
The technical information contained in the announcement has been reviewed and approved by Fergus Jenkins, 
VP Technical at Serica Energy plc. Mr. Jenkins (MEng in Petroleum Engineering from Heriot-Watt University, 
Edinburgh) is a Chartered Engineer with over 25 years of experience in oil & gas exploration, development and 
production and is a member of the Institute of Materials, Minerals and Mining (IOM3) and the Society of 
Petroleum Engineers (SPE). 
 

Enquiries: 
 
Serica Energy plc  +44 (0)20 7487 7300   
Martin Copeland (CFO) / Andrew Benbow (Group Investor 
Relations Manager) 

  

    
Peel Hunt (Nomad & Joint Broker)  +44 (0)20 7418 8900  
Richard Crichton / David McKeown / Emily Bhasin   
    
Jefferies (Joint Broker)  +44 (0)20 7029 8000  
Sam Barnett / Will Soutar    
    
Vigo Consulting (PR Advisor)   +44 (0)20 7390 0230  
Patrick d’Ancona / Finlay Thomson serica@vigoconsulting.com   
 
 
Serica will host a live presentation on the Investor Meet Company platform today at 0900 BST. The 
presentation is open to all existing and potential shareholders. Questions can be submitted at any 
time during the live presentation. Investors can sign up to Investor Meet Company for free and add to 
meet Serica Energy plc via: 
 
https://www.investormeetcompany.com/serica-energy-plc/register-investor.   
 
 
  

https://www.investormeetcompany.com/serica-energy-plc/register-investor
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CHAIR’S STATEMENT 
I am pleased to introduce my second set of results as the Chair of Serica Energy. 2024 was a year in 
which we accomplished a great deal, but it was not without its challenges both internally and 
externally. It was a year in which we delivered a tremendously successful drilling programme, but we 
experienced unplanned outages that hit our production, and of course meant that our revenues did 
not benefit as they should have done. It was also a year in which uncertainty about government 
policies dominated the political landscape for operators in the UK North Sea, something on which 
there have been recent tentative signs of changing for the better. During the year, we also saw a 
significant change in the management team, and I am confident that we have the right team to drive 
the Company forward and thrive in the face of current challenges. 
 
UK political challenges  
The adverse impact of multiple increases and extensions to the Energy Profits Levy (‘EPL’) in the last 
few years can be seen in the decline of production and activity in the UK North Sea. During 2024 the 
new Labour Government was formed, promising a further increase in the tax burden for UK oil and 
gas producers further eroding investor confidence in the long-term prospects of the basin. Although 
a small increase in the overall tax rate to 78% did materialise, the government listened to the 
industry’s representations and preserved 100% first-year tax allowances for capital investment. This 
was essential with the alternative being a rapid curtailment of a valuable national resource.  
 
The energy debate is sometimes posited as a choice between domestically produced oil and gas and 
renewable sources. The fact is that the UK needs all of the above. Homegrown oil and gas supports 
quality jobs in our communities, enhances the UK’s security, enables an equitable energy transition, 
and generates government tax revenues. Serica alone has paid over £500 million of tax during the last 
five years.  
 
Between now and achieving net zero in 2050, the Climate Change Committee's energy transition 
pathway estimates that the UK will need 13-15 billion barrels equivalent of oil and gas, during which 
period the UK is projected to import more than half its essential oil and gas requirements. Although 
production from the UK North Sea is in decline, the steepness of that decline is in part due to 
government policies over recent years. Of the barrels that the UK needs, only an estimated four billion 
are set to be produced in the North Sea, worth an estimated value of £200 billion to the UK economy. 
This figure could rise to seven billion barrels with supportive fiscal and regulatory frameworks in place, 
generating a further estimated £150 billion for the UK. Oil and gas in the UK North Sea remains a very 
valuable national resource and it is common sense to prioritise its exploitation over imports. 
 
At the time of writing, the UK Government has recently launched two formal consultations on UK 
North Sea licensing and taxation. In addition, we await the outcome of the consultation on guidance 
for Environmental Impact Assessments for new projects. The combined impact of these three 
processes will be pivotal in determining the future of the North Sea and we hope that the government 
pursues policies that are consistent with, rather than effectively negate, the decision to retain full first-
year tax allowances for investment.  
 
I am proud of the role Serica is playing in the country’s energy debate.  We have been and will continue 
to be at the forefront of the industry in speaking up in favour of homegrown oil and gas. A Town Called 
Bruce, the film we helped create with the GMB, illustrated the positive impact that we and our peers 
have on jobs and communities throughout the UK. As someone who has spent over three decades in 
the industry, I found the film both moving and inspiring. My thanks go to all those who contributed to 
creating the film. It can be found on our website and I thoroughly recommend a watch. 
 
Heading into 2025, I am more positive on the direction of government policy than I was a year ago, 
but we are not out of the woods yet.  
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A new phase of Serica Energy, with a new team 
We continue to remain prudent in how we allocate capital, and indeed are adjusting our framework 
in this regard with these results, focusing our capital spend where we see investment in our organic 
portfolio delivering rapid returns. Early production from the first two wells of the five due to be drilled 
in the Triton area has delivered excellent technical results and is a testament to our team’s capabilities. 
A key focus is now on working with the operator of the Triton FPSO to make sure that we translate 
the excellent subsurface performance into sustaining strong production and cashflow.  
 
Serica is continuing to evolve as a company. We started with our AIM listing some 20 years ago this 
year, with a very small team, trying and succeeding in growing the Company through innovative 
transactions. We are now moving into a new phase where we are cementing ourselves as a proven 
operator, focused on safety, operational delivery and GHG emissions reduction, and looking for other 
opportunities to become the operator of more assets, diversifying our portfolio and making it more 
robust, while retaining a balanced commodity mix. In this respect, it is fitting that we are also looking 
to move our listing to the main LSE market later this year. 
 
As we move into this phase, the Board was delighted to appoint Chris Cox as CEO. Chris joined in July, 
bringing the experience of running a multi-asset business, understanding the necessary maintenance 
of similarly mid-to-late life fields, and delivering organic growth and building companies.  
 
As we seek to grow further, we were also very pleased that Martin Copeland joined the business as 
CFO. Martin has the ability, energy and experience to identify and execute value-accretive M&A 
transactions, with the Parkmead acquisition an excellent example of a small but smart transaction, to 
optimise and deliver value from our portfolio. The importance of increasing our scale, but above all 
the diversification of our sources of production and revenue base, has been made only more apparent 
given the operational challenges we witnessed in Q4 2024 and the early part of 2025. We are 
continuing our drive for further diversification of our asset base, which we believe will allow us to 
deliver a more predictable and reliable financial performance – but we will only transact if we are 
convinced that doing so will deliver value to Serica’s shareholders. 
 
Building a stronger company 
There remain challenges ahead, but I am confident that Serica is in a stronger position today than at 
any other point in its history. We have assets with the potential to generate significant cash, an 
attractive production mix of oil and gas, and a highly experienced management team and Board, with 
a strategy of optimising mid-to-late life assets in a way that has the potential to deliver significant 
shareholder value. 
 
We continue to be very active in pursuing multiple M&A opportunities in both the UK North Sea and 
other geographies, firmly focused on deals that we believe will be accretive to shareholder value. As 
we seek to diversify and further strengthen the Company, we intend to retain a strong balance sheet 
to keep us resilient to uncertain future events, with the expectation of material cash generation going 
forward and multiple organic opportunities in which to allocate capital. Our confidence in our future 
prospects supports the ongoing payment of a substantial dividend, and the Board is pleased today to 
confirm a final distribution in respect of 2024 of 10 pence per share, bringing the total dividend for 
2024 to 19 pence per share and overall shareholder distributions equivalent to 23 pence per share, in 
line with returns related to the 2023 financial year, when we also factor in the inaugural share buyback 
executed during the year.  
 
The prudent rebalancing of our dividend reaffirms our commitment to material direct shareholder 
returns, takes into account the deferred revenues due to operational issues in 2024, and ensures that 
we retain liquidity to take full advantage of the many organic and inorganic opportunities ahead. As 
we do this, work is ongoing regarding a potential move from the AIM to the Main Market, which would 
increase our visibility and bring our investment story to the widest possible pool of investors. Serica is 
well positioned in the current environment, and I firmly believe that the best is yet to come. 
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---------------------- 
 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S REVIEW 
Since joining Serica in July, it would be fair to say that there have already been some ups and downs, 
and a couple of things that have surprised me. The first is the quality of the subsurface properties of 
our asset base. The number, and quality, of the opportunities for drilling more wells and accessing 
reserves at both BKR and in the Triton area is exceptional given the maturity of the assets and the fact 
that they have been operated in the past by major companies.  
 
I have also been delighted with the team that we have in place to mature and deliver these 
opportunities. We effectively have the best of both from Serica and the team acquired from Tailwind, 
some of whom I was delighted to know from when I worked with them at BG. They are great at what 
they do, with the right people in the right roles, deploying key technologies in the right way, and they 
can be a real differentiator going forward. The tremendous results of the Triton drilling campaign 
illustrate what can still be achieved in delivering growth in our basin.  
 
Of course, what we have not seen to date is our high-quality subsurface assets delivering appropriate 
production, cash flows, and in turn value to our shareholders. This has been disappointing and, put 
simply, our assets are not producing what they could be. While the majority of these issues have been 
on Triton, where Serica is not the operator, we are doing everything we can to work with the operator 
to ensure, as far as possible, that the issues that have caused the poor uptime of the FPSO do not 
happen again. The value we have created through the drill-bit is very much there, but it is being left 
in the ground, and we need to, and will, do more to stop this from happening. 
 
Delivering value from mid-to-late life assets 
Serica has the ability to continue delivering value from our portfolio of mid-to-late life assets, and the 
team is working hard to strengthen further a culture of performance excellence. This starts with safety, 
and everyone taking pride of ownership of their sphere of influence. The leadership team is totally 
committed to the safe running of operations, and we firmly believe that excellence in this area will 
also help deliver the production performance of which our asset base is so clearly capable. 
 
This aspect was the other main surprise to me on coming into the Company – just how much more 
can be achieved from our current asset base if it can be made to run to its true potential. To date, 
there have been too many outages at Triton, and at BKR there is also very much the potential to do 
more and to optimise production. But this is a good problem to have – it is clearly far preferable to 
have a positive subsurface, with work to be done on facilities, than it is to have great facilities and bad 
rocks. We know the issues we face, and how to fix them – in contrast, you can’t fix what nature has 
dealt you under the ground. 
 
I have spent most of my career dealing with and managing the challenges of mid-to-late life assets, 
and it is not always straightforward. Facilities are designed to handle a particular flow rate and a 
particular type of fluid at a particular pressure, and these change over time. By the time they get to 
late life, fields are often producing a fraction of the fluid volumes for which they were designed, a lot 
of water may be coming through, and lower pressures mean facilities don't perform in the same way. 
These assets need care and attention, including detailed, well-planned and executed maintenance 
programmes. The operator needs to get the basics right, make sure everything runs within appropriate 
and optimised parameters, replace what is needed before it fails, and it is then entirely possible to 
ensure that the facilities are able to run safely and efficiently often well past their original design lives. 
This is hard, focused work but it is deliverable. We have the hydrocarbons, and we have the potential 
to continue supporting UK North Sea production for many years to come. 
 
As part of our drive to increase reliability and performance, we are refining our structure in terms of 
operational roles and making sure the right people are laser focused on the right things. Amongst 
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other high-quality appointments in key strategic roles, we are set to take on a Production Optimisation 
Manager imminently, tasked with helping to convert the subsurface quality into optimised production 
and cash flows.  
 
The Triton area drilling campaign is a great illustration of the quality of our people. We have completed 
four wells out of five on Triton, with four positive results, and we will work hard to get the facilities 
functioning as they should to deliver this new production reliably. To have multiple wells come in that 
exceed pre-drill expectations and produce clean oil really is a fantastic outcome. We are confident 
that the fifth one to come, Belinda, will also be a good well, and we are excited by the value that could 
be unlocked now that the same subsurface team is turning its attention to the wider portfolio. 
 
Opportunities ahead 
We have announced today a material increase in our 2C resources to 89 mmboe, and the work done 
on our BKR hub to identify opportunities is not yet complete. At BKR our initial focus is on Bruce. Re-
processed 3D seismic data is helping to unlock Bruce potential, and the team has built the first full 
field 3D simulation model. We have already identified multiple drilling opportunities, and while not all 
of those will turn out to be economic, as we do more work on them and run simulation models, we 
will high-grade the opportunity set throughout this year to create options for 2026 and beyond. No 
new wells have been drilled on Bruce since 2012 and new techniques and technologies can help access 
previously undrained and untargeted areas, and I look forward to updating you on our plans for BKR 
as they come together later in the year. 
 
Given the ongoing lack of clarity over the long-term fiscal regime pending the outcome of the current 
consultations, our focus is largely on maturing possible infill drilling programmes, where these promise 
a similarly rapid payback to our Triton area drilling campaign. The retention of first year allowances in 
the Autumn Budget has allowed us to accelerate spend on resilience enhancement measures at both 
the Bruce Hub and on the Triton FPSO, and the Flare Gas Recovery project at Bruce qualifies for the 
decarbonisation allowance, meaning its c.$10 million cost will be more than fully offsetable against 
our tax liability. This will help our ongoing efforts regarding GHG emissions, with our carbon intensity 
from Bruce of 17.0 kgCO2/ boe in 2024 remaining below the UKCS average of 21 kg CO2/boe. 
 
However, should the government provide clarity on a long-term fiscal and regulatory environment 
that supports the UK North Sea in providing a homegrown solution to the UK’s hydrocarbon demand, 
then we have larger projects in the portfolio with the potential to deliver organic growth that would 
offset natural decline in our portfolio into the next decade. 
 
Our next development project could be Kyle. Kyle is a redevelopment of an old field that was 
abandoned because its host infrastructure was removed. We were awarded the licence in the 33rd 
licence round run by the last government in October 2023, and it is a classic example of the kind of 
hidden potential that we hope the ongoing licensing consultation will address. Kyle was a new licence 
for us, but it has discovered hydrocarbons able to add material value to an existing hub, and we very 
much hope that the government will continue to allow new licences in similar circumstances. Kyle is 
very close to Triton and can be easily tied back via a single well development with the potential to 
convert over 11 mmboe of 2C resources into reserves. Wells in the reservoir have produced oil from 
it in the past and were still producing when the field was abandoned. Beyond Kyle, we have options 
in the Buchan Horst redevelopment, and what we hope to be multiple further exciting drilling 
opportunities around Bruce. 
 
Resilience through diversification 
As we seek to deliver organic growth, further asset diversification would also be a real positive for us, 
reducing the extent of our vulnerability to any future operational issues at one of our two main hubs. 
The chance to achieve further diversification from our existing portfolio is therefore attractive, while 
we continue to seek meaningful additions through M&A. Our current focus is on the UK, where we 
are well placed to act as a consolidator in what remains a buyer’s market. The soon to be completed 
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Parkmead acquisition was a small deal but one that adds real value to Serica. We think there is more 
to come in the UK. We are also keen to find value creating opportunities to provide geographical 
diversification that, despite the improving tone of government policy signals, will reduce our 
dependence on a single political jurisdiction.  
 
As we continue to run the rule over multiple opportunities, we will also take care of our base business 
and make sure that our assets run better than they clearly have in 2024 and 2025 year to date and 
deliver the value of our current portfolio. As we seek to grow the Company, we are aware that we 
need to prove to our shareholders that we are a top-tier operator that can be trusted to utilise your 
capital to deliver value from our assets. And we will. 
 
Material cash generation 
With all assets producing, our portfolio is capable of delivering over 50,000 boepd. Issues at Triton 
during the first quarter which, albeit different, compound on the challenges of Q4 2024, mean that 
we have been a long way from our production potential in the first quarter, and our production 
guidance for 2025 has today been set at a revised range of 33,000 to 37,000 boepd. Given the potential 
flow rates, a period of stable production will help us to strive for the top end of this range. 
 
With a robust gas price and stable oil price, and our sizeable carried forward loss position at Triton 
providing a tax shelter from Corporation Tax and Supplementary Charge, we are confident that future 
production can deliver material free cash flow. This should enable us to fund our organic growth 
prospects, while also allowing us to continue delivering healthy returns to our shareholders.  
 
---------------------- 
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 
Reserves and resources 
Serica’s assets contained 117.5 mmboe of 2P oil and gas reserves net to the Company as of 31 
December 2024 (31 December 2023: 140 mmboe), with a broadly even split between oil (55.1 mmboe) 
and gas (62.4 mmboe). 2P reserves include, for the first time, 5.6 mmboe of gas that will be produced 
to fuel production assets. 
 

As at 31 December 
(mmboe) 1 

2P 2024 2P 2023  2C 2024 2C 2023 

Bruce Hub 69.8 84.1 33.3 21.3 
Triton Hub 41.8 49.1 16.4 - 
Other Production Assets 5.9 7.1 9.0 9.0 
Greater Buchan Area - - 30.0 - 

Total 117.5 140.3 88.7 30.3 

 
1 boe figures have been determined using field specific calorific values for gas. The methodology has been updated from 

previous years, which used an industry standard conversion factor for gas from all fields 

 
The reduction in reserves reflects production of 12 mmboe in 2024, as well as the result of a rigorous 
reassessment of well performance and opportunities across the portfolio. This, combined with the 
continued uncertainties of the fiscal and regulatory backdrop, resulted in the deferral of planned 
drilling of the SCE/SCW wells on BKR, with 2P reserves reduced by 9.5 mmboe. However, the same 
technical reassessment has high-graded other potential prospects, albeit not to a level of maturity 
necessary to constitute reserves as at 31 December 2024. 
 
The result of the subsurface work undertaken in 2024 has though delivered a material upgrade in 
resources, with the clear potential to move a proportion of these from 2C to 2P as work continues to 
mature opportunities towards investment decisions. We are now reporting 88.7 mmboe of 2C 
resources (31 December 2023: 30.3 mmboe), of which the Greater Buchan Area, into which our farm-
in transaction completed in February 2024, comprises 30.0 mmboe. Notable other opportunities 
across the portfolio include the addition of 11.1 mmboe relating to the Kyle redevelopment, and work 
at Bruce has resulted in the Company booking an additional 11.8 mmboe of 2C resources – with work 
ongoing that has the potential to see this figure increase further and/or be converted to reserves.  
 
The Company continues to pursue a returns-led approach to organic investment, investing in its assets 
to add value through increased production, decarbonisation through reduced emissions, and the 
extension of field life. The current work programme, with its focus on the five-well Triton drilling 
campaign, has the ability to sustain production above an annual average of 40,000 boepd well into 
2026. Plans for the resumption of drilling around BKR, and potentially the redevelopment of Kyle and 
Buchan Horst, can boost reserves, increase production, and further illustrate our ability to identify 
value-adding opportunities in a mature basin, and in turn create significant shareholder value.  
 
Production net to Serica (boepd) 
 

 2024 Pro forma 
2023   

Bruce Hub 19,800 19,100 
Triton Hub 9,000 14,100 
Other Assets 5,800 6,900 

Total 34,600 40,100 
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Bruce Hub 
Bruce Field - Blocks 9/8a, 9/9b and 9/9c, Serica 98% and operator 
Rhum Field - Blocks 3/29a, Serica 50% and operator 
Keith Field - Block 9/8a, Serica 100% 
Production at the Bruce Hub averaged 19,800 boepd in 2024, a small increase on 2023. Production 
was robust in H1, with the Bruce Hub averaging 23,400 boepd ahead of the summer maintenance 
programme. Q4 was then impacted by a short period of unscheduled downtime on the Bruce platform, 
related primarily to a subsea intervention and consequent pause in production necessary to ensure 
enhanced longer-term production reliability on the Rhum field.  
 
On a field level, the Bruce Hub 2024 LWIV campaign undertaken with the Helix Well Enhancer was 
successfully completed in May, and the summer programme of Bruce field platform work included a 
range of activities designed to enhance production as well as routine integrity monitoring. Production 
at Bruce averaged 6,000 boepd in the year (2023: 6,500 boepd). 
 
A number of minor projects are set to be undertaken in 2025 which will help improve resilience and 
efficiency, all managed by our soon to be appointed Production Optimisation Manager, helping to 
maximise the performance of BKR.   
 
Looking further ahead, extensive subsurface work is ongoing to identify and rank opportunities for 
infill drilling. A number of opportunities have been uncovered, not all of which are included in the 2C 
resources of 33.4 mmboe now booked on Bruce. Work will continue to high-grade these prospects 
and deliver a drilling programme, with the potential for drilling to resume on the field from late 2026, 
which would be the first since 2012. 
 
The Rhum field produced consistently and in line with expectations, with minimal capital work, in the 
first half of 2024. Necessary subsea intervention work to install a hydraulic override tool and address 
an issue with the R3 well resulted in Q4 not meeting our expectations. Average field production in 
2024 totalled 13,800 boepd (2023: 12,500 boepd) of gas net to Serica. Limited capital expenditure is 
expected at Rhum in 2025, with well scale removal to improve well delivery under consideration. 
 
Work in H1 2025 is focused on improving production rates, with an operational failure on the 
productive R3 well impacting production in March from the field. Work to increase resilience will now 
be undertaken ahead of the resumption of production from the K1 well on the Keith field, which has 
not produced since 2022.  
 
The annual maintenance shutdown at the Bruce Hub will take place in Q3 and is scheduled to last for 
12 days.  
 
Triton Hub 
Bittern 64.63%, Evelyn 100%, Gannet E 100%, Guillemot West & North West 10%, Belinda 100% 
The Triton Hub experienced a mixed 2024 – where positive subsurface results were achieved from 
infill well drilling, but production was disappointing due to a number of unplanned outages that 
resulted in a year-on-year average production decline from 14,100 boepd to 9,000 boepd.  
 
The first shutdown in May followed a trip on the single gas export compressor that was available, a 
weakness that continued throughout 2024, causing another significant outage in Q4 commencing 
from 26 October. Production was also adversely impacted by the summer shutdown for annual 
maintenance work on Triton overrunning by three weeks.  
 
Unfortunately, problems have continued into the start of 2025, as issues resulting from Storm Éowyn 
caused production to be suspended at the end of January. Safety critical maintenance was scheduled 
following damage to a storage tank, and then integrity issues were discovered in pipework which is 
used to inject inert gas into the cargo tanks. Following an investigation into the causes, Dana inspected 
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all piping and valves in the inert gas/gas free venting system to the cargo oil tanks, resulting in a more 
significant work scope being undertaken to replace whole sections of pipework in this system on the 
FPSO.  
 
In order to reduce overall downtime this year, following discussions with Dana, the decision was made 
to bring forward the scheduled summer maintenance programme and carry it out concurrently with 
the ongoing work. Through integrating the work programmes it removes the downtime inherent in 
shutting down and restarting the plant for a separate maintenance periods, which alone adds around 
two weeks of production potential. The work scope for the maintenance programme has been 
optimised to fit the current schedule, and production is expected to resume in June and then have no 
planned downtime for the remainder of the year. 
 
Immediately prior to this late-January shutdown, production from Triton achieved rates of 25,000 
boepd net to Serica, with production from wells at Guillemot North West and Evelyn still to come. An 
amendment to mode of operation in start up of the gas export compressors appears to have solved 
the repeated issue with the gas seal system that impacted 2024. The second compressor will also be 
brought into commission once the FPSO is back up and running and this, together with the current 
work being completed, should help to deliver more consistent and reliable uptime, and hence 
production rates, going forward.  
 
Serica continues to work closely with the operator, Dana, to ensure that maintenance work is 
delivered in a way that will see enhanced reliability at Triton. Serica employees have been reviewing 
the plans of the operator’s team, which has itself been enhanced in recent months. Discussions also 
continue with Dana regarding options for the future of the FPSO, with a view to securing a lasting 
improvement in the operating performance. As confirmed by a third-party review undertaken by the 
engineering firm Kent, the FPSO itself is structurally sound, with no material issues found with its key 
systems, those being the double hull, turret or swivel, and with continued and timely maintenance 
the Triton FPSO has the potential to produce 2035 and potentially beyond. 
 
The outages have meant that Serica’s production has not yet truly benefitted from the tremendous 
results of the first wells in the five-well Triton drilling campaign.  
 
The first well completed was the B6 horizontal well (a sidetrack from the B1 well) on the Bittern field, 
which entered production in September at a rate of over 5,000 boepd net to Serica. This very positive 
result was then followed by the Gannet GE05 well, which was tied in to the Triton FPSO on 25 October, 
under budget and ahead of time, and was brought onto stable production at a rate of over 6,000 bopd 
after the late 2024 outage period, in January.  
 
The outage of the FPSO in Q1 2025 did not adversely affect the drilling work. The W7Z well on the 
Guillemot North West field is set to be brought onto production following the resumption of 
production on the FPSO, and the EV02 on the Evelyn field, drilled on time and under budget, is set to 
follow shortly after restart. EV02 has shown similarly promising signs to the other wells in the 
campaign, a further endorsement of our subsurface team’s ability to enhance production and deliver 
value from mid-to-late life fields. 
 
The COSL Innovator rig has now moved to drill the final well in the campaign, the BE01 well on the 
Belinda field (SQZ: 100%). Drilling began on 20 March and the well is forecast to enter production in 
early Q1 2026, following the drilling and installation of subsea infrastructure required for Belinda as a 
new field development. 
 
  



 - 13 - 

Other Production Assets 
Erskine Field - Blocks 23/26a (Area B) and 23/26b (Area B), Serica 18% 
Erskine averaged 1,200 boepd net to Serica in 2024 (2023: 1,325 boepd), in what was very much a 
year of two halves. Production issues during H1 2024 led to production averaging 500 boepd net to 
the Company, following a compressor problem on the host Lomond platform. Production was re-
established in early May, but taken offline shortly thereafter for the planned Lomond turnaround. 
Since the restart of production on 26 August, the field produced consistently at a rate of well over 
2,000 boepd net to Serica. A late life compression project to extend the life of the field is planned to 
be carried out this year. 
 
Columbus Field - Blocks 23/16f and 23/21a (part), Serica 75% (operator) 
During the first half of 2024, Columbus production was steady, averaging 1,800 boepd net to Serica in 
H1. Following maintenance in Q3, which resulted in no production in that quarter, production 
resumed in October, averaging 2,000 boepd in Q4 and 1,400 boepd for 2024 as a whole (2023: 2,180 
boepd).  
 
Orlando Field - Block 3/3b, Serica 100% 
Orlando produced steadily in 2024, averaging 3,300 boepd net to Serica (2023: 3,500 boepd). 
Production has also begun steadily in Q1, ahead of a scheduled shut-in of 28 days, originally planned 
for late October for annual maintenance on its host platform Ninian, which began in March 2025. 
 
Development  
Kyle Redevelopment (P2616), Serica (Operator) 100% 
The Kyle Redevelopment, located in Block 29/2c, is a previously producing oilfield, 20 km southeast of 
Triton, which was shut-in in 2020 solely due to the decommissioning of the Banff FPSO host facility. 
Kyle presents a potential redevelopment opportunity with a single horizontal well tied-back to Triton 
via Bittern, similar to other Triton tie-backs.   
 
Ongoing technical work since Serica was awarded the licence in the 33rd Licence Round in October 
2023 has led to an enhanced understanding of the subsurface, and our work to date has upgraded the 
Company’s view of the potential of the asset. Subsurface and front-end design work tenders are now 
set to be issued later this year. With the appropriate fiscal and licensing environment, there is the 
potential for first oil in 2028 on a project that could be approximately twice the size of Belinda, carrying 
over 11 mmboe of 2C resources.   
 
Greater Buchan Area - Blocks 20/5a, 205d, 21/1d & 21/1a, Serica 30% 
In February 2024 Serica completed the acquisition of a 30% working interest in the Greater Buchan 
Area (‘GBA’) licences P.2498 and P.2170 with co-venture partners Jersey Oil & Gas (20%) and NEO 
Energy (50% and operator). The GBA encompasses several proven oil and gas accumulations – 
including Buchan Horst – and exploration prospects, some 150 km north-east of Aberdeen in the Outer 
Moray Firth.  
 
Buchan Horst is one of the largest remaining undeveloped fields on the UKCS, with an estimated 22.7 
mmboe of 2C resources net to Serica, and the potential for 10,000 boepd peak net production. The 
development project would support an estimated 1,000 jobs in the UK and includes the possibility of 
powering the facilities from offshore wind to achieve UKCS leading low carbon emissions. 
 
The viability of the project depends in large part on the future UKCS fiscal and regulatory regimes 
which are currently subject to government consultations.  
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Exploration assets 
Skerryvore – Blocks 30/12c (part), 30/13c (split), 30/17h, 30/18c and 30/19c (part), Serica 20% 
working interest  
The P2400 Licence is located in the Central North Sea, 60 km south of the Erskine field. Serica will take 
on the operatorship of the asset on completion of our acquisition of Parkmead’s 50% holding in the 
licence, with CalEnergy holding the remaining 30%. The commitment work programme includes 
drilling an exploration well on the Skerryvore prospect by the end of September 2025. However, given 
the lack of clarity regarding the future fiscal and licensing regime, the joint venture has applied for an 
extension to the licence period. 
 
---------------------- 
 
FINANCIAL REVIEW 
Our financial performance in 2024 was impacted by the production issues experienced at Triton, which 
resulted in a material loss of production and revenue, albeit that our after tax results benefited from 
a substantial reduction in the tax charge in 2024 as compared to 2023.  
 
Combining this with a year of material capital expenditure on our new wells in the Triton area 2024 
was essentially neutral on a free cash flow basis. However, even though Q1 2025 has also witnessed 
unrelated production downtime at Triton, we view these as temporary issues that should not impact 
Serica’s ability to continue delivering on our strategy. We retain a strong balance sheet with very low 
net debt and decommissioning liabilities, and an outlook that generates material free cash flow in 
coming years, enabling us to have capital allocation optionality to sustain our production and deliver 
returns for shareholders while retaining resilience for unforeseen events. 
 
Capital allocation priorities 
The United Kingdom continues to have an oil and gas tax rate that is unsuitable for a mature oil and 
gas basin, and the industry urgently needs clarity regarding the future regime to enable long-term 
investments to be made with confidence. The implementation of the new regime cannot wait, as the 
government currently intends, until 2030. Serica will be playing its part in responding to the recently 
launched consultations on the future tax regime and licensing and we expect to learn the outcome of 
these as well as the already concluded environmental consents consultation later in the year. Until this 
uncertainty is removed, will remain prudent in our capital allocation, focused on completing the tax-
efficient, short-cycle investments in our portfolio which are delivering rapid returns. 
 
Our investment in 2024 and continuing into 2025 has focused on the Triton drilling campaign, where 
individual wells can pay back comfortably within a year. In 2024, $260 million pre-tax capex was 
allocated towards drilling at Triton as well as some well intervention activity at BKR and certain pre-
FID costs on our E&E assets. We are very pleased with the drilling results funded by this investment, 
and once steady production from the Triton FPSO is restored the wells drilled in 2024 will boost 
production and revenues.  
 
Although the new government increased the headline tax rate to 78% and removed the EPL Investment 
Allowances, the Autumn Budget did importantly retain first year capital allowances at 100%. The 
retention of full expensing (in common with all other sectors of the UK economy) means that short-
cycle investments will likely continue to deliver positive returns, and we expect them to remain a key 
component of our capital allocation priorities going forward. We expect pre-tax capex to be in the 
range of $220-250 million in 2025, with the majority of spend focused on the continuation of the Triton 
drilling programme, including the more extensive subsea work required for our Belinda development, 
where drilling has just commenced. Our subsurface team continue to mature other opportunities 
across the portfolio, especially in the Bruce area, and we are hopeful of being able to mature further 
infill opportunities enabling us at least to offset natural decline in the near-term. 
 



 - 15 - 

The combined effect of our investment programme and the associated capital allowances, together 
with continuing to retain over $1 billion pool of ring-fence losses, materially benefitted our tax position 
in 2024. Although the blended headline tax rate in 2024 increased to 75.5% from 75% in 2023, as a 
result of the 3% increase in the EPL rate from 1 November, our book tax rate reduced from 66% in 2023 
to 42% in 2024. Although we paid cash tax in 2024 of $153 million (2023: $348 million) our current tax 
charge for the year, before adjustment in respect of prior years, was reduced to only $14 million (2023: 
$226 million). This sharply reduced current tax charge reflected the impact of investment and capital 
allowances but, most materially, for the first time, also incorporated group relief for in year losses of 
the subsidiaries which hold our Triton area field interests being applied against the tax charge at our 
BKR entity.  
 
The combination of these effects has also meant that our tax loss pool remained essentially unchanged 
at just over $1 billion dollars at 31 December 2024 (2023: $1 billion). In addition, following completion 
of the Parkmead acquisition we would expect to extend this tax shield by approximately a further $250 
million of carried forward tax losses.  
 
We now expect our loss pool to provide shelter for our Triton production through to the end of the 
decade and will continue to explore options to accelerate this use where possible. 
 
Robust balance sheet 
Our balance sheet remains robust, with material cash generation expected once we have Triton back 
onstream, enabling us to combine investment in sustaining and growing production with maintaining 
our strong track record of returning capital to shareholders. The resilience of this strategy for the 
delivery of shareholder value was illustrated in 2024, as we returned $132 million to investors, inclusive 
of dividends and share buyback, while investing approximately twice that amount in the portfolio, 
notwithstanding the production challenges we experienced especially in the latter part of the year.  
 
Our liquidity position remains comfortable following the December redetermination of our RBL as well 
as available cash, and gives us material optionality over our expenditure, as we continue to invest in 
organic growth and seek M&A that will deliver further value to shareholders.  
 
Change in presentational currency 
Following the acquisition of Tailwind, which completed in March 2023, and the refinancing of the 
Group’s RBL in January 2024, as communicated at the time of our 2024 half-year results, the Directors 
elected to change the Group’s presentational currency from Pounds Sterling to US Dollars with effect 
from 1 January 2024. The Group believes that the presentational currency change will give investors 
and other stakeholders a clearer understanding of Serica’s performance over time and align with the 
presentational currency of its peers. As a result of this change, the results for the year ended 31 
December 2023 and the balance sheet as at 31 December 2023 have been restated in US Dollars ($). 
 
Further analysis of the summary metrics provided in the Summary Financial Information table below 
is detailed in the following pages of this Financial Review. 
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Summary Financial Information Units 2024 2023 PF 2023 

Production and sales realised prices       

Production boepd 34,600 35,200 40,100 

Sales volumes mmboe 12.2 12.3 14.4 

Natural Gas (net of NTS system charges) p/th 76 93 94 

Crude Oil $/bbl 75 71 67 

NGLs $/MT 491 455 453 

     
Income Statement    Restated Restated 

Revenue $ million 727 789 917 

EBITDAX(1) $ million 379 475 n/a 

Profit before taxation $ million 160 380 n/a 

Profit after taxation $ million 92 128 n/a 

Basic earnings per share cents 24 35 n/a 

     
Other key financial figures      

Capital expenditure(2) $ million 278 99 n/a 

Operating cashflow $ million 452 470 n/a 

CFFO less current tax(1) $ million 403 250 n/a 

Dividends paid in year $ million 113 110 n/a 

Share buyback $ million 19 - - 
     

(1) See Reconciliation of non-IFRS measures for further detail 
(2) Capital expenditure includes decommissioning costs   

 
Production for 2024 was 34,600 boepd, compared to 35,200 boepd for 2023 and 40,100 boepd for 
2023 on a pro forma basis. The 2 million boe lower annual production as compared to the 2023 Pro 
Forma level, largely reflected the operational challenges we experienced with the Triton FPSO. Realised 
sales prices for gas for the period were lower than for 2023, averaging 76 pence per therm (2023 pro 
forma: 94 pence per therm), although realised oil prices were slightly higher in 2024 averaging $75/bbl 
(2023 pro forma: $67/bbl).  
 
Serica generated EBITDAX of $379 million in 2024 compared to $475 million for 2023 and a profit 
before taxation down nearly 60% to $160.5 million for 2024 compared to $380.4 million for 2023. 
However, after a materially lower tax charge of $68.1 million (2023: $252.6 million), profit after tax for 
the year was down by just under 30% to $92.4 million compared to $127.8 million for 2023. 
 
Sales revenues 

     Restated Restated 

Revenue   Units   2024 2023 PF 2023 

Total revenue  $ million  727            789         917            

Gas Sales  $ million  375                             
            

431 445                    

Crude Oil  $ million  317                             332             446                   

NGLs  $ million  35                               26                26                     
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The total 2024 sales revenue was $727.2 million, compared to pro forma 2023 sales revenue of $917.2 
million. The reduction in like for like sales is largely driven by the impact of 2024 Triton unplanned 
outages, which resulted in over 2 million bbls lower volumes of oil sales as well as a lesser impact from 
marginally lower realised commodity prices, primarily driven by the reduction in NBP market prices 
and realised gas prices. 
 
Sales comprised gas revenue of $374.7 million (PF 2023: $445.0 million), oil revenue of $317.5 million 
(PF 2023: $446.6 million) and NGL revenue of $35.0 million (PF 2023: $25.6 million). The fall in gas 
revenue was driven by lower realised pricing (76 pence per therm as compared to 94 pence per therm 
PF 2023) while the like-for-like oil revenue was down by almost 30% reflecting oil production down 
nearly 40% partially offset by higher realised oil prices ($75.4 per barrel as compared to $66.8 per 
barrel PF 2023). Like-for-like NGL revenues were up by 36%, with 25% higher sales volumes as well as 
higher realised prices for NGLs ($491 per metric tonne as compared to PF 2023: $453 per metric 
tonne). 
 
Total product sales volumes for the period comprised approximately 386.7 million therms of gas (PF 
2023: 379.6 million therms), 4.2 million lifted barrels of oil (PF 2023: 6.7 million barrels), and 70,872 
metric tonnes of NGLs (PF 2023: 56,630 metric tonnes). This amounted to overall sales volumes some 
2 million boe lower in the period of 12.2 million boe (PF 2023: 14.4 million).   
 
Gross profit 
The gross profit for 2024 was $223.2 million compared to $382.1 million for 2023. Overall cost of sales 
of $504.0 million compared to $406.8 million for 2023. This comprised $337.3 million of field operating 
and lifting costs (2023: $281.6 million), movements in oil over/underlift increased to a credit of $20.6 
million (2023: credit of $11.5 million), and $187.3 million of non-cash depletion charges (2023: $136.3 
million).  

 

     Restated 

Cost of sales   Units   2024 2023 

Total operating costs  $ million  504 407             

Field operating costs  $ million  330                             273             

Lifting costs/other  $ million  8                                 9 

Movement in over / underlift $ million  (21)                               (11)              

DD&A  $ million  187                               136 
 
The increase in total operating costs largely reflected a full year contribution from the enlarged 
business including Tailwind as compared to 2023, with a significant proportion of fixed element costs. 
Absolute field operating costs as reported were approximately 20% higher than 2023, largely reflecting 
a full year of the combined business. This translated into $/boe of $26 as compared to approximately 
$21 for 2023, with the increased unit rate mainly resulting from reduced production due to the 
unplanned Triton Area shut-ins during 2024.  
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EBITDAX, operating profit before net finance costs and tax 
EBITDAX for 2024 was $379 million compared to $475 million for 2023. 

 

   Restated 

Operating profit to EBITDAX(1) Units 2024 2023 

Operating profit $ million 186 400             
Add back DD&A and depreciation $ million                 188      136                

Add back E&E costs $ million                        2 13 

Add back / (deduct) unrealised hedging $ million 32                      (25)              

Deduct contract revenue – other $ million (31) (30)              

(Deduct)/add back transaction costs and other $ million (2) 18 

Add back share-based payments $ million                   4      5 

Deduct gain on acquisition $ million                        -  (42)              

EBITDAX(1) $ million 379                    475             
    

(1) See Reconciliation of non-IFRS measures for further detail.  
 
The operating profit for 2024 was $186.5 million compared to $399.9 million (inclusive of a gain on 
acquisition of $41.9 million on the Tailwind transaction) for 2023.   
 
Net hedging expense of $43.5 million (2023: $5.8 million income) comprised unrealised hedging losses 
of $31.8 million (2023: gains of $25.3 million) and realised hedging losses of $11.7 million (2023: $19.5 
million losses). Unrealised hedging losses arose from the non-cash movement in valuation of Serica’s 
2024 period-end commodity hedge positions, with the main contributor being mark to market of gas 
price derivatives which were entered into during 2024 to manage commodity price risks and to comply 
with minimum hedging requirements under the Group’s RBL facility. Realised hedging expense during 
2024 primarily related to out of the money UKA Emission Trading Scheme (‘UKA ETS’) carbon price 
swaps which have now rolled off.  
 
Contract revenue of $31.3 million (2023: $30.0 million) arose from the partial unwind of an underlying 
revenue offtake contract that was fair valued in connection with the Tailwind acquisition in 2023. An 
original liability of $66.7 million was recognised which is released to the Income Statement across 
2023, 2024 and 2025 as the underlying contract unwinds, with the final unwind impact of $5.4 million 
to be reflected in 2025. 
 
Administrative expenses for 2024 of $21.6 million reflected a full year period of the enlarged group 
activities compared to $24.5 million for 2023. The 2023 comparable period also had additional, 
separately disclosed, transaction costs of $12.5 million relating to fees and other transaction costs 
associated with the Tailwind acquisition.  
 
Profit before taxation and profit after taxation for the period 
Profit before taxation for 2024 of $160.5 million (2023: $380.4 million) included a $2.5 million charge 
arising from an increase in the fair value of financial liabilities (2023: $9.4 million charge), $13.9 million 
of finance revenue (2023: $16.8 million) and $37.4 million of finance costs (2023: $26.9 million).  
 
Finance revenue of $13.9 million (2023: $16.8 million) primarily represented interest income earned 
on cash deposits and decreased as a result of lower average cash balances held in the period compared 
to 2023. Finance costs of $37.4 million (2023: $26.9 million) included interest payable and other 
financing fees on the RBL facility, as well as the non-cash discount unwind on decommissioning 
provisions and other minor finance costs. The increase reflects the full period of interest charges and 
fees on the RBL in 2024 compared to the shorter post-acquisition period in 2023.  
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The 2024 taxation charge of $68.1 million (2023: charge of $252.6 million) comprised current tax 
charges, before adjustment in respect of prior years, of $14.1 million (2023: $225.8 million) and a 
deferred tax charge of $54.2 million (2023: $24.4 million). The sharply reduced current tax charge 
reflected the materially lower profit before tax but also the group benefiting, for the first time, from 
the application of in year group relief effects. 

   Restated 

Reported and Effective tax rate(1) Units 2024 2023 

Profit before tax $ million 160              380              

Current tax $ million 14                 228              

Deferred tax charge $ million 54                 24                   

Tax charge for the period $ million 68               252              

Book tax rate % 42% 66% 

Applicable ring-fence aggregate tax rate % 75.5% 75% 
    

 
Overall, profit after taxation for 2024 was $92.4 million compared to a profit after taxation of $127.8 
million for 2023. This resulted in an earnings per share of 24 cents (2023: 35 cents) after taking into 
account the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue. 
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GROUP BALANCE SHEET 
Serica retains a robust balance sheet with a conservative Adjusted Net Debt to EBITDAX ratio of 0.2x 
as at 31 December 2024. This position of balance sheet strength and ample liquidity gives the group 
flexibility in capital allocation including the ability to fund its ongoing capital investment programmes 
while continuing to support distributions to shareholders.  

    Restated 

Assets     
31 December 

2024 
31 December 

2023 

   $ million $ million 

E&E   20                                                2  

PP&E   992                                        906  

Deferred tax asset   55                                           107  

Inventory   15                                             14  

Trade and other receivables, financial assets   164                                         177  

Corporate tax receivable   71 - 

DSA Security                      -                              35  

Cash & cash equivalents   148                                         335  

Total Assets     1,465              
                        

1,576  

    

 
Restated 

Equity and liabilities     
31 December 

2024 
31 December 

2023 

    $ million   $ million  

Equity   797                                         834  

RBL borrowings, drawn amounts                   231                          271  

RBL unamortised fees                   (12)                               -    

Provisions   146                                          149  

Financial liabilities   124                                             93  

Corporate tax payable   - 68 

Contract liabilities   5                                                 37  

Trade and other payables, lease liabilities   174                                          124  

Total Equity and Liabilities     1,465             
                        

1,576  

 
Total property, plant and equipment increased from $905.8 million at year end 2023 to $991.6 million 
at 31 December 2024.  
 
PP&E additions comprised book capital expenditure including accruals during 2024 of $264.0 million 
across the Triton Area ($200.0 million) and BKR ($54.3 million) asset hubs and Erskine field ($9.7 
million). These were partly offset by depletion charges for 2024 of $188.3 million. 
 
The net deferred tax asset of $55.1 million at 31 December 2024 compares to $107.1 million at year 
end 2023. This comprised the recognition of deferred tax assets in relation to tax losses and future 
relief available on decommissioning of $577 million, partially offset by deferred tax liabilities of $522 
million arising on PP&E balances. Deferred tax liabilities arising upon the Group’s PP&E balances will 
be released in future periods as those balances are depleted. The overall reduction in Net Deferred 
Tax Assets of $52.0 million as compared to 2023 largely arose from increased deferred tax liabilities 
recognised on higher PP&E balances and reflecting the increase in the EPL rate from 35% to 38%, and 
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a reduction in the deferred tax asset recognised on the Group’s oil revenue contract liability which 
substantially unwound during the year. 
 
Decommissioning security advances of $35.1 million at 31 December 2023 were recovered and added 
to cash balances during H1 2024 when replaced shortly after completion of the new RBL facility by 
security in the form of letters of credit issued under the new financing facility.  
 
The decrease in cash balances from $335.4 million at 31 December 2023 to $148.5 million at 31 
December 2024 reflected cash flow from operations of $452 million offset by $153 million of cash tax 
payments, capital and abandonment expenditures paid of $278 million, $113 million of dividend 
payments, $19.0 million in respect of our inaugural share buyback programme conducted between 
April and June and $52.5 million on debt repayments in the period.  
 
Current trade and other payables increased to $168.3 million at 31 December 2024 from $121.7 million 
at the end of 2023 reflecting the higher payable balances in relation to the Group’s capital and 
decommissioning expenditure and higher deferred revenue in respect of certain revenue contracts. 
The UK corporation tax payable reversed from the prior year to a receivable of $71.0 million at 31 
December 2024 (31 December 2023: $68.3 million payable) and reflects a recovery of overpayments 
of corporation tax, supplementary charge, and the EPL in respect of 2024 resulting primarily from the 
application of group tax relief.  
 
Derivative financial liabilities of $42.4 million at 31 December 2024 represent the mark to market 
valuation of gas and oil hedging swap and collar products in place at the year end. New gas and oil 
hedging arrangements were entered into during 2024 to manage commodity price risks where 
management considered this prudent and/or available on attractive market terms and to comply with 
minimum hedging requirements under the Group’s RBL.  
 
Contract liabilities of $5.4 million at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: $36.7 million) reflect the 
outstanding portion of an underlying revenue offtake contract that was fair valued in connection with 
the Tailwind acquisition in March 2023. An original liability of $66.7 million was recognised in 2023 
which is released to the Income Statement across 2023, 2024 and 2025 as the underlying contract 
unwinds.  
 
Non-current financial liabilities of $81.9 million (31 December 2023: $82.8 million) comprise remaining 
deferred consideration projected to be paid under the BKR acquisition agreements of $49.7 million (31 
December 2023: $44.9 million) and royalty liabilities of $32.2 million (31 December 2023: $37.9 
million) for amounts payable to third parties under the terms of Triton asset acquisitions previously 
made by Tailwind. Current financial liabilities at 31 December 2023 reflected the final contingent 
consideration payment of shares issued in March 2024 in respect of the Tailwind acquisition.  
 
Provisions of $146.0 million (31 December 2023: $148.8 million) predominantly relate to future 
decommissioning obligations and are split between current balances of $nil million (31 December 
2023: $16.5 million) as decommissioning activities were undertaken during the year, and non-current 
balances of $146.0 million (31 December 2023: $132.3 million). The small decrease from the prior year 
was mainly due to expenditure in the period on the completed Arthur field programme partially offset 
by a charge from the unwinding of the discount applied. Increases were partially offset by currency 
translation adjustments.  
 
Interest bearing loans of $219.1 million at 31 December 2024 represent drawn amounts of $231.0 
million net of unamortised facility fees of $11.9 million under the $525 million RBL facility entered into 
in January 2024 which replaced the previous RBL facility assumed with the Tailwind acquisition (31 
December 2023: $271.2 million).  
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The initial drawdown under the new RBL facility was $283.5 million (covering a repayment of $271.2 
million for the previous RBL and $12.3 million of interest and new facility fees) in January 2024 and a 
repayment of $52.5 million was made in February 2024. The redetermined total amount available for 
drawdown under the facility at 31 December 2024 was at a level capped by the facility size of $525 
million. 
 
Overall, net assets have decreased from $834.2 million at year end 2023 to $796.5 million at 31 
December 2024.  
 
The increase in share capital from $245.3 million to $245.5 million arose from shares issued following 
the exercise of share options and the nominal value of shares issued for the Tailwind acquisition, while 
the decrease in other reserves from $37.7 million to $37.5 million arose from share-based payments 
related to share option awards. The merger reserve of $286.6 million in the consolidated Group 
accounts arose in connection with the shares issued for the 2023 Tailwind acquisition.   
 
CASH BALANCES AND FUTURE COMMITMENTS  
Current cash position and price hedging 
At 31 December 2024 the Group held adjusted net debt of $82.5million as compared to adjusted net 
cash of $99 million at 31 December 2023.  

    Restated 

Adjusted Net (Debt) / Cash     
31 December 

2024 
31 December 

2023 

   $ million $ million 

Interest bearing loan   (219)                                     (271) 
Add back unamortised fees     (12)                                             -    

Cash & cash Equivalents   148                                          335  

DSA Security                      -                               35  

Adjusted Net (Debt)/cash      (83)                           99  
 

As at 27 March 2025, the Company held cash and cash equivalents of $141 million and debt drawings 
of $231 million.  
 
 
Hedging 
Serica carries out hedging activity to manage commodity price risk, to meet its contracted 
arrangements under its RBL facility and to ensure there is sufficient funding for future investments. 
Serica held the following instruments as at 31 December 2024: 
 
Oil hedges 
 

 2025  2026 
Weighted Average Units Q1-25 Q2-25 Q3-25 Q4-25 Q1-26 Q2-26 Q3-26 

Put Net $/bbl - - - - - - - 
Swap price $/bbl 68 75 75 75 75 - - 
Collar floor net $/bbl 68 69 68 68 69 - - 

Total weighted average $/bbl 68 69 69 69 70 - - 

Collar ceiling $/bbl 96 88 88 86 86 - - 

Hedged Volume Kboe/d 10 6 6 5 4 - - 
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Gas hedges 
 

 2025  2026 
Weighted Average Units Q1-25 Q2-25 Q3-25 Q4-25 Q1-26 Q2-26 Q3-26 

Put Net p/therm - - - - - - - 
Swap price p/therm 84 87 86 90 94 - - 
Collar floor net p/therm 80 70 70 82 82 64 - 

Total weighted average p/therm 81 82 81 85 85 64 64 

Collar ceiling p/therm 125 121 121 135 135 99 99 

Hedged Volume Kboe/d 4 6 5 7 6 5 5 

 
Included in the Q1 2025 hedged volumes are volumes at fixed pricing under oil offtake agreements for 
approximately 0.4 million barrels at an average price of $61 per barrel. These legacy hedges were 
applied to an individual oil tanker lifting from the Triton area FPSO and fully utilised during January 
2025. 
 
Field and other capital commitments 
Serica’s planned 2025 investment programme includes two remaining wells from the 2024-25 drilling 
campaign in the Triton Area (Evelyn Phase 2 (EV02) and Belinda) and further capital work on the Bruce 
facilities including resilience upgrades as well as a flare gas recovery project. 
 
At 31 December 2024, the Group had commitments for future capital expenditure relating to its oil 
and gas properties which relate primarily to the remaining Triton Area well programme (including EV-
02 and Belinda), other Triton area work (including a new water injection line) and other capital works 
on Bruce. The Group’s only significant exploration commitment work programme includes drilling an 
exploration well on the Licence P2400 (Skerryvore) prospect by the end of September 2025. Given the 
lack of clarity regarding the future fiscal and licensing regime, the joint venture has applied for an 
extension to the licence period.  
 
Cash projections are run periodically to examine the potential impact of extended low oil and gas 
prices as well as possible production interruptions. Serica currently has substantial net cash resources 
and relatively low operating costs per boe which means that the Company is well placed to withstand 
such risks and its capital commitments can be funded from existing cashflow in most scenarios. 
 
OTHER 
Asset values 
At 31 December 2024, Serica’s market capitalisation stood at $660 million based upon a share price of 
135.2 pence which exceeded the net asset value of $796.5 million. By 28 March 2025 the Company’s 
market capitalisation, based on a share price of 138p, had increased to $697 million. 
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Serica Energy plc    
Group Income Statement    
For the year ended 31 December 2024    
    
 
 

 2024 2023 
 Note $000 $000 
   (Restated*) 
Continuing operations    
Sales revenue 4 727,178 788,920 
    
Cost of sales  
 

5 (503,981) (406,790) 
    
Gross profit  223,197 382,130 
    
Hedging (expense)/income 16 (43,474) 5,848 
Contract revenue - other 16 31,292 29,951 
Exploration and pre-licence costs  (1,595) (2,622) 
E&E asset write-offs 12 (851) (10,871) 
General and administrative expenses 6 (21,601) (24,486) 
Transaction costs 29 - (12,539) 
Foreign exchange gain/(loss)  3,234 (4,465) 
Share-based payments 25 (3,735) (4,942) 
Gain on acquisition 29 - 41,889 
    
Operating profit before net finance costs  186,467 399,893 
and tax    
Change in fair value of financial liabilities  19 (2,538) (9,446) 
Finance revenue 8 13,927 16,830 
Finance costs 8 (37,358) (26,906) 
    
Profit before taxation  160,498 380,371 
    
Taxation charge for the year 9 (68,069) (252,614) 
    
Profit for the year  92,429 127,757 
    
    
Profit for the year attributable to:     
Equity owners of the Company  92,429 127,757 
    
Earnings per ordinary share - EPS    
Basic EPS on profit for the year ($) 10 0.24 0.35 
Diluted EPS on profit for the year ($) 10 0.23 0.34 
    
    
    

*See note 2 
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Serica Energy plc 
Group Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 31 December 2024 

 

   2024 2023 
  $000 $000 
   (Restated*) 
     
     
Profit for the year   92,429 127,757 
     
Other comprehensive (loss)/profit     
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to income statement:   
Exchange differences on translation   (5,217) 22,594 
Other comprehensive (loss)/profit for the year   (5,217) 22,594 
     
Total comprehensive profit for the year   87,212 150,351 
     
Total comprehensive profit attributable to:     
Equity owners of the Company   87,212 150,351 
     

*See note 2 
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Serica Energy plc 
Registered Number: 5450950 
Group Balance Sheet 
As at 31 December 2024 

  2024 2023 1/1/2023 
 Note $000 $000 $000 
   (Restated*) (Restated*) 
Non-current assets     

Exploration & evaluation assets 12 20,367 2,457 1,210 
Property, plant and equipment 13 991,588 905,760 321,474 
Deferred tax asset 9 55,139 107,071 - 

  1,067,094 1,015,288 322,684 
Current assets     
Inventories 14 14,884 13,860 4,833 
Trade and other receivables 15 158,117 176,455 162,761 
Corporate tax receivable  71,013 - - 
Hedging security advances  - - 29,402 
Derivative financial assets 16 5,185 - - 
Decommissioning security advances 17 - 35,055 - 
Cash and cash equivalents 17 148,460 335,433 522,914 

  397,659 560,803 719,910 
     
TOTAL ASSETS  1,464,753 1,576,091 1,042,594 
     
Current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 18 168,287 121,652 84,491 
Corporate tax payable  - 68,311 181,343 
Derivative financial liabilities 16 31,185 5,564 30,121 
Contract liabilities 16 5,408 36,700 1,193 
Financial liabilities 19 - 4,627 - 
Lease liabilities 26 1,418 709 - 
Provisions 20 - 16,467 - 
     
Non-current liabilities     
Derivative financial liabilities 16 11,201 - - 
Financial liabilities 19 81,923 82,751 35,517 
Deferred tax liability  - - 185,329 
Lease liabilities 26 3,769 1,651 - 
Provisions  20 145,974 132,291 30,465 
Interest bearing loans  21 219,130 271,200 - 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  668,295 741,923 548,459 
     
NET ASSETS  796,458 834,168 494,135 

     
Share capital 23 245,537 245,257 233,260 
Merger reserve 23 286,590 283,367 - 
Other reserve 25 37,540 37,650 32,708 
Treasury/own shares 23 (8,931) - - 
Accumulated funds  249,834 276,789 259,656 
Currency translation reserve  (14,112) (8,895) (31,489) 

TOTAL EQUITY  796,458 834,168 494,135 

     
*See note 2 
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Approved by the Board on 31 March 2025 
Chris Cox                           Martin Copeland 
Chief Executive Officer       Chief Financial Officer 
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Serica Energy plc 
Group Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2024  
 

 

 
Share 

capital 
Merger 
reserve 

Other 
reserve 

 
Treasury/own 

shares 

Currency 
translation 

reserve 

Accumulated 
funds Total 

  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
         

At 1 January 2023 (Restated*)  233,260 - 32,708 - (31,489) 259,656 494,135 
         
Profit for the year (Restated*)  - - - - - 127,757 127,757 
Other comprehensive income (Restated*)  - - - - 22,594 - 22,594 

Total comprehensive (Restated*) 
income(Restated*)   

 - - - - 22,594 127,757 150,351 
Issue of shares (Restated*)  11,997 283,367 - - - - 295,364 
Share-based payments (Restated*)  - - 4,942 - - - 4,942 
Dividend paid (Restated*)  - -   - (110,624) (110,624) 
         

At 31 December 2023 (Restated*)  245,257 283,367 37,650 - (8,895)     276,789 834,168 

         
Profit for the year  - - - - - 92,429 92,429 
Other comprehensive loss  - - - - (5,217) - (5,217) 

Total comprehensive (loss)/income  - - - - (5,217) 92,429 87,212 
Issue of shares  280 3,223 - - - - 3,503 
Share-based payments   - - 3,735 - - - 3,735 
Treasury/own shares  - - - (18,775) - - (18,775) 
Release of shares  - - - 9,844 - (9,844)  
Share payments  - - (3,845) - - 3,845 - 
Dividend paid  - - - - - (113,385) (113,385) 
         

At 31 December 2024   245,537 286,590 37,540 (8,931) (14,112) 249,834 796,458 

       
*See note 2 
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Serica Energy plc   
Group Cash Flow Statement   
For the year ended 31 December 2024   
 2024 2023 
 $000 $000 
  (Restated*) 
 Note   

Cash inflow from operations 24 452,222 470,022 
Taxation paid  (152,517) (347,588) 
Decommissioning spend  (18,142) (1,115) 

Net cash inflow from operating activities 24 281,563 121,319 
    
Investing activities:    
Interest received  13,927 16,830 
Purchase of E&E assets  (11,123) (12,027) 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (249,050) (85,626) 
Acquisition of subsidiary 30 (7,665) - 
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 29 - (54,177) 

Net cash flow from investing activities  (253,911) (135,000) 
 

Financing activities:    
Payments of lease liabilities 24 (2,697) (777) 
Proceeds from issue of shares 23 280 996 
Repayment of borrowings 21 (323,700) (102,000) 
Proceeds from borrowings 21 283,500 43,200 
Dividends paid 11 (113,385) (110,400) 
Share buyback 23 (18,775) - 
Finance costs paid  (38,501) (23,595) 

Net cash flow from financing activities  (213,278) (192,576) 
    
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (185,626) (206,257) 
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash    
equivalents  (1,347) 18,776 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 24 335,433 522,914 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 24 148,460 335,433 

 
*See note 2 
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Serica Energy plc 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
1. Authorisation of the Financial Statements and Statement of Compliance with UK adopted 

International Accounting Standards 
The Group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 were authorised for issue by 
the Board of Directors on 31 March 2025 and the balance sheet was signed on the Board’s behalf by 
Chris Cox and Martin Copeland. Serica Energy plc is a public limited company incorporated and 
domiciled in England & Wales with its registered office at 72 Welbeck Street, London, W1G 0AY. The 
principal activity of the Company and its subsidiaries (together the ‘Group’) is to identify, acquire and 
subsequently exploit oil and gas reserves. A listing of the Group’s companies is contained in note 31 to 
these Group financial statements. Its current activities are located in the United Kingdom. The 
Company’s ordinary shares are traded on AIM. 
 
The Group’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK adopted International 
Accounting Standards as they apply to the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2024. The principal accounting policies adopted by the Group are set out in note 2. 
 
2. Accounting Policies 
 
Basis of Preparation 
The accounting policies which follow set out those policies which apply in preparing the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.  
 
The Group financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis and presented in US 
dollars. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand US dollars ($000) except when otherwise 
indicated.  
 
In preparing the Group financial Statements management has considered the impact of climate 
change. These considerations did not have a material impact on the financial reporting judgements 
and estimates and consequently climate change is not expected to have a significant impact on the 
Group’s going concern assessment to June 2026 nor the viability of the Group over the next five years. 
However, governmental and societal responses to climate change risks are still developing, and are 
interdependent upon each other, and consequently financial statements cannot capture all possible 
future outcomes as these are not yet known. It is recognised that Net Zero targets and third-party 
expectations may drive government action that imposes further requirements and costs on companies 
in the future.  The Group has additional planned expenditure related to flare gas recovery and other 
emission reduction measures, however, as all of the Group’s existing portfolio of producing assets are 
currently projected to cease production by 2036, it is believed that any such future changes would 
have a relatively limited impact compared to assets with longer durations. The Group will continue to 
consider the impact of climate change on any future business developments. 
 
Change in presentation currency  
On 1 January 2024, the Group changed its reporting currency from Pounds Sterling to US Dollars as 
the Group believes that the presentation currency change will give investors and other stakeholders a 
clearer understanding of Serica’s performance over time and align with the presentation currency of 
its peers.  
 
In accordance with IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, this change 
in presentation currency was applied retrospectively and accordingly, prior year comparatives have 
been restated.  
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Financial information included in the consolidated statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 
has been restated in US Dollars as follows:  

- Assets and liabilities in non-US denominated currencies were translated into US Dollars at the 
rate of exchange ruling at the relevant balance sheet date;  

- Non-US Dollar income statements and cash flows were translated into US Dollars at average 
rates of exchange for the relevant period; and 

- Share capital, merger reserve, and all other equity items were translated using the rates that 
were used in 2018 when the Group had changed its presentation currency from US Dollars to 
Pounds Sterling, or the subsequent rates prevailing on the date of each relevant transaction 
since.  

 
In preparing these financial statements, the exchange rates used in respect of the US Dollars ($) 
and Pounds Sterling (£) are: Pounds Sterling to US Dollar  
 Year ended 31 

December 2024  
Year ended 31 

December 2023 
At 1 January 2023  

Average for the 
period  

 1.278 1.243 N/A 

At the end of the 
period  

 1.253 1.273 1.209 

 

Going Concern 

The Directors are required to consider the availability of resources to meet the Group’s liabilities for 
the period ending 30 June 2026, the ‘going concern period’.  

As at 27 March 2025 the Group held cash and term deposits of $141 million and undrawn RBL facility 
amount of $294 million. See note 21 for further details of the current RBL facility.  

The Group has a balance in product mix between gas and oil, and two main operating hubs which 
reduces the potential impact of production interruptions. The Group regularly monitors its cash, 
funding and liquidity position, including available facilities and compliance with facility covenants. 
Near-term cash projections are revised and underlying assumptions reviewed, generally monthly, and 
longer-term projections are also updated regularly. Downside price and other risking scenarios are 
considered. In addition to commodity sales prices the Group is exposed to potential production 
interruptions and these are also considered under such scenarios. In recent years, management has 
given priority to building a strong cash reserve which can respond to different types of risk.  
 
For the purposes of the Group’s going concern assessment we have reviewed two cash projections for 
the going concern period. These projections cover a base case forecast and an extreme stress test 
scenario for the operations of the Group. RBL repayments have been assumed based on the current 
redetermination and no covenant compliance matters noted. 
 
The base case assumptions for the going concern period included commodity pricing of 82 
pence/therm for gas and US$75/bbl for oil for the remainder of 2025 and 82 pence/therm gas and 
US$72.5/bbl oil for H1 2026. Production, opex, capex and tax assumptions are those currently included 
in standard management forecasting. The forward-looking price assumptions are considered as 
reasonable in light of recent commodity forward pricing and a consensus of published forecasts from 
the industry, brokers and other analysts. 
 
The stress test assumptions assume a continued full six month period shut-in of Triton hub production 
until 1 October 2025 and 25% reduced production volumes from the base case across the full portfolio 
of producing assets for H1 2026. Base case commodity pricing is retained for 2025 but lower 
commodity pricing of 50 pence/therm gas and US$60/bbl oil are assumed for the H1 2026 period in 
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this scenario which are significantly below the range of current market expectations for the going 
concern period. Under this scenario, which would result in lower cash inflows and any repayments of 
the RBL facility as redetermined, the Group was able to maintain sufficient cash to meet its obligations 
and maintain covenant compliance. A number of mitigating factors and mitigating actions that are 
under management control are available to management in the stress test event. These would mitigate 
the reduced operating cash outflows experienced and are not included in the projection.  
 
After making enquiries and having taken into consideration the above factors, the Directors considered 
it appropriate that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the going 
concern period. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial 
statements. 
 
Potential Transaction 
On 7th March 2025, the Company announced that it was in discussion with Enquest Plc regarding a 
possible business combination (the “Potential Transaction”).  The announcement was issued following 
media speculation, pursuant to Rule 2.4 of the UK Takeover Code and as such there is no certainty 
that a Firm Intention to Offer pursuant to Rule 2.7 will be made nor as to the terms of any such offer 
if made.  The Potential Transaction is envisaged to be implemented by way of a reverse take-over with 
Enquest Plc making an all share offer for Serica. 
 
Notwithstanding the preliminary nature of the discussions of the Potential Transaction, the Directors 
have undertaken appropriate analysis, commensurate with the early stage and uncertainty of the 
Potential Transaction, to satisfy themselves with the appropriateness of the going concern basis of 
reporting the Group’s financial statements.  The analysis considered inter alia the regulatory 
provisions of the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”) and the Companies Act under the likely structure 
of the transaction as a reverse takeover, including requirements for shareholder approvals and the 
publishing of a prospectus covering the combined group, and consequently the obligations of directors 
and of the FCA Sponsor regime that would be available to the Board prior to recommending approval 
of any Potential Transaction to shareholders and to the legal completion of any such Potential 
Transaction. 
 
Use of judgement and estimates and sources of estimation uncertainty 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with UK-adopted International Accounting 
Standards requires management to make judgements and estimates that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet 
date and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and 
judgements are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Actual outcomes could differ from these estimates. The Group has identified the following areas where 
significant judgement, estimates, and assumptions are required. 
 
I) Uses of judgement 
Key sources of judgement that may have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements are as follows: assessing whether impairment triggers 
exist that might lead to the impairment of the Group assets (including oil and gas producing & 
development assets and Exploration and Evaluation “E&E” assets); and taxation including recognition 
of deferred tax assets. 
 
Details on these sources of judgements are given below.  
 
Assessment of the impairment indicators of intangible and tangible assets 
The Group monitors internal and external indicators of impairment relating to its intangible and 
tangible assets, which may indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. The 
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assessment of the existence of indicators of impairment in E&E assets involves judgement, which 
includes whether licence performance obligations can be met within the required regulatory 
timeframe, whether management expects to fund significant further expenditure in respect of a 
licence, and whether the recoverable amount may not cover the carrying value of the assets. For 
development and production assets judgement is involved when determining whether there have 
been any significant changes in the Group’s oil and gas reserves. 
 
A review was performed for any indication that the value of the Group’s oil and gas assets may be 
impaired at the balance sheet date of 31 December 2024 in accordance with the stated policy. The 
Group considers the relationship between its market capitalisation and its book value, among other 
factors, when reviewing for indicators of impairment. As at 31 December 2024, the market 
capitalisation of the Group was below the book value of its equity, which was assessed by management 
as a trigger for potential impairment of its oil and gas assets. 
 
The future recoverable amounts of the Group’s oil and gas assets were assessed for impairment and 
no impairment was identified. See note 13 for further information.  
 
Acquisition through business combination 
The Group made a significant acquisition in prior year which was accounted for as a business 
combination under IFRS 3 (see note 29). In determining the fair value on acquisition of a pre-existing 
oil revenue contract a judgement was made to value the contract at the differential between the 
contract pricing and market price and to unwind the liability through ‘contract revenue – other’ in the 
income statement upon satisfaction of the performance obligations of the contract. 
 
Taxation including the recognition of deferred tax assets  
The Group’s operations are subject to a number of specific tax rules which apply to exploration, 
development and production companies such as the Energy Profits Levy, ring-fenced Corporation Tax 
at 30%, the Supplementary Charge Tax of 10% and the application of investment allowances. As a result 
of these factors, the tax provision process necessarily involves the use of a number of judgements 
around expenditure deductible under different ring-fenced tax rules.  
 
II) Sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
The key sources of estimation uncertainty that may have a significant risk of causing material 
adjustment to the amounts recognised in the financial statements are: the assessment of commercial 
reserves and production profiles; and decommissioning provisions.  
 
Details on these key sources of estimation uncertainty are given below.  
 
Assessment of commercial oil and gas reserves 
Management is required to assess the level of the Group’s commercial reserves together with the 
future expenditures to access those reserves, which are utilised in determining the depletion charge 
for the period, decommissioning provisions, whether deferred tax assets are recoverable and assessing 
whether any impairment charge is required. Estimates of oil and gas reserves require critical 
judgement. The Group uses proven and probable (2P) reserves (excluding fuel gas) (see page 11) as 
the basis for calculations of depletion and expected future cash flows from underlying assets because 
this represents the reserves management intends to develop. The Group employs independent 
reserves specialists who periodically assess the Group’s level of commercial reserves by reference to 
data sets including geological, geophysical and engineering data together with reports, presentation 
and financial information pertaining to the contractual and fiscal terms applicable to the Group’s 
assets. In addition, the Group undertakes its own assessment of commercial reserves and related 
future capital expenditure by reference to the same data sets using its own internal expertise. A 10% 
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reduction in the assessed quantity of commercial reserves would lead to an increase in the depletion 
charge for 2024 of 20.4 million (2023: $15.4million). 
 
Decommissioning provisions 
Amounts used in recording a provision for decommissioning are estimates based on current legal and 
constructive requirements and current technology and price levels for the removal of facilities and 
plugging and abandoning of wells. Due to changes in relation to these items, the future actual cash 
outflows in relation to decommissioning are likely to differ in practice. To reflect the effects due to 
changes in legislation, requirements and technology and price levels, the carrying amounts of 
decommissioning provisions are reviewed on a regular basis. The effects of changes in estimates do 
not give rise to prior year adjustments and are dealt with prospectively. While the Group uses 
estimates and assumptions, actual results could differ from these estimates. Expected timing of 
expenditure can also change, for example in response to changes in laws and regulations or their 
interpretation, and/or due to changes in commodity prices. The payment dates are uncertain and 
depend on the production lives of the respective fields. For further details including sensitivities of the 
calculation to changes in input variables (see note 20).  
 
Non-key sources of estimation uncertainty 
Non-key sources of estimation uncertainty include determining the fair value of contingent 
consideration, royalty liabilities, and the recoverability of deferred tax assets. 
 
Determining the fair value of contingent consideration on BKR acquisitions 
The Group determined the fair value of initial contingent consideration payable based on discounted 
cash flows at the time of the acquisition in 2018, calculated for each separate component of the 
contingent consideration. Any cash flows specific to the contingent consideration also reflect 
applicable commercial terms and risks. In calculating the fair value of the remaining contingent 
consideration on the BKR acquisitions payable as at 31 December 2024, assumptions underlying the 
calculation were updated from 2023. These included updated commodity prices, production profiles, 
future opex, capex and decommissioning cost estimates, discount rates, proved and probable reserves 
estimates and risk assessments. For further details including sensitivities of the calculation to changes 
in input variables (see note 19). 
 
Royalty liabilities 
The Group determined the fair value of a royalty liability assumed upon the Tailwind acquisition in 
2023 at the time of the acquisition and subsequently as at 31 December 2023 and 2024.  In calculating 
the fair value of the royalty payable, assumptions included commodity prices, future production and 
discount rates. For further details including sensitivities of the calculation to changes in input variables 
(see note 19). 
 
Recoverability of deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets, including those arising from unutilised tax losses, require management to assess 
the likelihood that the Group will generate sufficient taxable profits in future periods, in order to utilise 
recognised deferred tax assets. Assumptions about the generation of future taxable profits depend on 
management’s estimates of future cash flows. These estimates are based on forecast cash flows from 
operations (which are impacted by production and sales volumes, oil and natural gas prices, reserves, 
operating costs, decommissioning costs, capital expenditure, dividends and other capital management 
transactions) and judgement about the application of existing tax laws – see use of judgements: 
Taxation. There is no critical estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period.  
 
Basis of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Serica Energy plc (the “Company”) and 
entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year. Together 
these comprise the "Group".  
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Control is achieved when the Company:  
• has power over the investee;  
• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and  
• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 
 
The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. Consolidation of a 
subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of the subsidiaries acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included in profit or loss from the date the Company gains control until 
the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 
 
The results and financial position of all of the Group entities that have a functional currency different 
from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows: 
 

• Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the 
date of that balance sheet; 

• Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates 
(unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the rates prevailing on the 
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates 
of each transaction); 

• The exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognised in other 
comprehensive income; and 

• Any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the 
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the acquired entity and are translated at the 
spot rate of exchange at the reporting date. 

 
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the 
accounting policies used in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All inter-company balances and 
transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation. 
 
 
Foreign Currency Translation 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘functional currency’). 
The Group’s financial statements are presented in US dollars, the currency which the Group has elected 
to use as its presentational currency.  
 
In the financial statements of Serica Energy plc and its individual subsidiaries, transactions in foreign 
currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency rate ruling at the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the foreign 
currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and differences are taken to the income 
statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rate as at the date of initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured 
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date when the fair value 
was determined. Exchange gains and losses arising from translation are charged to the income 
statement as an operating item. 
 
Business Combinations 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured as the aggregate of consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and 
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed. 
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When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. Any contingent consideration to be 
transferred to the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent 
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9.  
 
Goodwill/gain on acquisition 
 
Goodwill on acquisition is initially measured at cost being the excess of purchase price over the fair 
market value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired. Following initial 
acquisition, it is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortised 
but is subject to an impairment test at least annually and more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. If the fair value of the net assets 
acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has 
correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the 
procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the reassessment 
still results in an excess of fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration 
transferred, then the gain on acquisition is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
At the acquisition date, any goodwill acquired is allocated to each of the cash-generating units, or 
groups of cash generating units expected to benefit from the combination's synergies. Impairment is 
determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit, or groups of cash 
generating units to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. 
 
Joint Arrangements 
Oil and gas operations are usually conducted by the Group as co-licensees in unincorporated joint 
operations with other companies. Most of the Group’s activities are conducted through joint 
operations, whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have the rights to the 
assets and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. The Group recognises its share of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the joint operation in the consolidated financial statements 
on a line-by-line basis. 
 
Full details of Serica’s working interests in those petroleum and natural gas exploration and production 
activities classified as joint operations are included in table of Licence Holdings at the end of the Annual 
Report.  
 
Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
As allowed under IFRS 6 and in accordance with clarification issued by the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee, the Group has continued to apply its existing accounting policy 
to exploration and evaluation activity, subject to the specific requirements of IFRS 6. The Group will 
continue to monitor the application of these policies in light of expected future guidance on accounting 
for oil and gas activities. 
 
Pre-licence Award Costs 
Costs incurred prior to the award of oil and gas licences, concessions and other exploration rights are 
expensed in the income statement. 
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Exploration and Evaluation (’E&E’) 
The costs of exploring for and evaluating oil and gas properties, including the costs of acquiring rights 
to explore, geological and geophysical studies, exploratory drilling and directly related overheads, are 
capitalised and classified as intangible E&E assets. These costs are directly attributed to regional CGUs 
for the purposes of impairment testing.  
 
E&E assets are not amortised prior to the conclusion of appraisal activities but are assessed for 
impairment at an asset level and in regional CGUs when facts and circumstances suggest that the 
carrying amount of a regional cost centre may exceed its recoverable amount.  Recoverable amounts 
are determined based upon risked potential, and where relevant, discovered oil and gas reserves. 
When an impairment test indicates an excess of carrying value compared to the recoverable amount, 
the carrying value of the regional CGU is written down to the recoverable amount in accordance with 
IAS 36. Such excess is expensed in the income statement. Where conditions giving rise to impairment 
subsequently reverse, the effect of the impairment charge is reversed as a credit to the income 
statement. 
 
Costs of licences and associated E&E expenditure are expensed in the income statement if licences are 
relinquished, or if management do not expect to fund significant future expenditure in relation to the 
licence. 
 
The E&E phase is completed when either the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting 
a mineral resource are demonstrable or no further prospectivity is recognised. At that point, if 
commercial reserves have been discovered, the carrying value of the relevant assets, net of any 
impairment write-down, is classified as an oil and gas property within property, plant and equipment, 
and tested for impairment. If commercial reserves have not been discovered then the costs of such 
assets will be written off. 
 
Asset Purchases and Disposals 
When a commercial transaction involves the exchange of E&E assets of similar size and characteristics, 
no fair value calculation is performed. The capitalised costs of the asset being sold are transferred to 
the asset being acquired. Proceeds from a part disposal of an E&E asset, including back-cost 
contributions are credited against the capitalised cost of the asset, with any excess being taken to the 
income statement as a gain on disposal. 
 
Farm-ins 
In accordance with industry practice, the Group does not record its share of costs that are ‘carried’ by 
third parties in relation to its farm-in agreements in the E&E phase. Similarly, while the Group has 
agreed to carry the costs of another party to a Joint Operating Agreement ("JOA") in order to earn 
additional equity, it records its paying interest that incorporates the additional contribution over its 
equity share.  
 
Property, Plant and Equipment – Oil and gas properties 
Capitalisation 
Oil and gas properties are stated at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Oil and gas properties are accumulated into single field cost centres and represent 
the cost of developing the commercial reserves and bringing them into production together with the 
E&E expenditures incurred in finding commercial reserves previously transferred from E&E assets as 
outlined in the policy above. The cost will include, for qualifying assets, any applicable borrowing costs.  
 
Depletion 
Oil and gas properties are not depleted until production commences. Costs relating to each single field 
cost centre are depleted on a unit of production method based on the commercial proved and 
probable reserves for that cost centre. The depletion calculation takes account of the estimated future 
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costs of development of management’s assessment of proved and probable reserves, reflecting risks 
applicable to the specific assets. Changes in reserve quantities and cost estimates are recognised 
prospectively from the last annual reporting date. Proved and probable reserves estimates obtained 
from an independent reserves specialist have been used as the basis for 2023 and 2024 calculations. 
 
Impairment 
A review is performed for any indication that the value of the Group’s development and production 
assets may be impaired. 
 
For oil and gas properties when there are such indications, an impairment test is carried out on the 
cash generating unit. Each cash generating unit is identified in accordance with IAS 36. Serica’s cash 
generating units are those assets which generate largely independent cash flows and are normally, but 
not always, single development or production areas. If necessary, impairment is charged through the 
income statement if the carrying amount of the cash generating unit exceed the recoverable amount 
of the related commercial oil and gas reserves. 
 
Acquisitions, Asset Purchases and Disposals 
Acquisitions of oil and gas properties are accounted for under the acquisition method when the assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed constitute a business.  

Transactions involving the purchase of an individual field interest, or a group of field interests, that do 
not constitute a business, are treated as asset purchases. Accordingly, no goodwill and no deferred 
tax gross up arises, and the consideration is allocated to the assets and liabilities purchased on an 
appropriate basis. When the cost of an asset includes contingent or variable consideration that may 
become payable to the vendor, the Group develops an accounting policy for the recognition and 
measurement of those costs and the associated liability as is appropriate having regard to the nature 
of the obligation to make the contingent or variable payments. The policy is applied consistently to 
similar transactions. See note 30 for details of the policy adopted for the acquisition of interests in the 
Greater Buchan Area. 

Proceeds from the entire disposal of a development and production asset, or any part thereof, are 
taken to the income statement together with the requisite proportional net book value of the asset, 
or part thereof, being sold. 
 
Decommissioning 
Liabilities for decommissioning costs are recognised when the Group has an obligation to dismantle 
and remove a production, transportation or processing facility and to restore the site on which it is 
located. Liabilities may arise upon construction of such facilities, upon acquisition or through a 
subsequent change in legislation or regulations. The amount recognised is the estimated present value 
of future expenditure determined in accordance with local conditions and requirements. A 
corresponding tangible item of property, plant and equipment equivalent to the provision is also 
created.  
 
Any changes in the present value of the estimated expenditure are added to or deducted from the cost 
of the assets to which it relates. If a change in the decommissioning liability exceeds the carrying 
amount of the asset, the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The adjusted depreciable 
amount of the asset is then depreciated prospectively over its remaining useful life. The unwinding of 
the discount on the decommissioning provision is included as a finance cost. The discount and inflation 
rates applied have taken into consideration the applicable rig rates and expected timing of cessation 
of production on each field. 
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Underlift/Overlift 
Lifting arrangements for oil and gas produced in certain fields are such that each participant may not 
receive its share of the overall production in each period. The difference between cumulative 
entitlement and cumulative production less stock is ‘underlift’ or ‘overlift’. Underlift and overlift are 
valued at market value using an observable year-end oil or gas market price and included within 
debtors (‘underlift’) or creditors (‘overlift’).  
 
Property, Plant and Equipment – Other 
Computer equipment and fixtures, fittings and equipment are recorded at cost as tangible assets. The 
straight-line method of depreciation is used to depreciate the cost of these assets over their estimated 
useful lives. Computer equipment is depreciated over three years and fixtures, fittings and equipment 
over four years, and right-of-use assets over the period of lease. 
 
Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by the first-in 
first-out method and comprises direct purchase costs and transportation expenses.  
 
Financial Instruments 
Financial instruments comprise financial assets, cash and cash equivalents, financial liabilities and 
equity instruments. Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 
 
Financial assets 
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair 
value through profit or loss, and fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI). 
 
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual 
cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. 
With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for 
which the Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group initially measures a financial asset at 
its fair value plus transaction costs (in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or 
loss). Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group 
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15. 
 
The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition and, where allowed 
and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial year end. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and 
derivatives. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of 
selling in the near term. 
 
In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost it needs to give rise to 
cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount 
outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. 
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through 
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include balances with banks and short-term investments with original 
maturities of three months or less at the date of deposit. 
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Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an 
effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group’s financial liabilities currently include loans and borrowings, 
trade and other payables, BKR consideration liabilities, royalty liabilities, deferred shares in relation to 
the Tailwind acquisition and derivative liabilities. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair 
value. 
 
Royalty Liabilities 
The fair value of the royalty liability is estimated as at applicable reporting dates from a valuation 
technique using future expected discounted cash flows and the calculations involve a range of 
assumptions related to oil prices, production volumes and discount rates (see note 19). 
 
BKR consideration 
The fair value of the BKR consideration is estimated as at applicable reporting dates from a valuation 
technique using future expected discounted cash flows. The methodology uses several significant 
unobservable inputs (see note 19). 
 
Loans and Borrowing 
Obligations for loans and borrowings are recognised when the Group becomes party to the related 
contracts and are measured initially at the fair value of consideration received less directly attributable 
transaction costs. 
 
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well 
as through the amortisation process. 
 
Emissions liabilities  
The Group operates in an energy intensive industry and is therefore required to partake in emission 
trading schemes (“ETS”). The Group recognises an emission liability in line with the production of 
emissions that give rise to the obligation. To the extent the liability is covered by allowances held, the 
liability is recognised at the cost of these allowances held and if insufficient allowances are held, the 
remaining uncovered portion is measured at the spot market price of allowances at the balance sheet 
date. The expense is presented within ‘production costs’ under ‘cost of sales’ and the accrual is 
presented in ‘trade and other payables’.  
 
Derivative financial instruments 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward commodity contracts, to hedge its 
commodity price risks. The Group has elected not to apply hedge accounting to these derivatives. Such 
derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative 
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as 
financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative. 
Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives are taken directly to the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and presented within operating profit.  
 
Further details of the fair values of derivative financial instruments and how they are measured are 
provided in Note 16. 
 
Equity 
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded in equity at the proceeds received, net of 
direct issue costs. 
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Treasury/own shares 
The Group’s holdings in its own equity instruments are shown as deductions from shareholders’ equity. 
Treasury shares represent Serica shares repurchased and available for specific and limited purposes. 
For accounting purposes, shares held in Employee Benefit Trusts to meet the future requirements of 
the employee share-based payment plans are treated in the same manner as treasury shares and are, 
therefore, included in the consolidated financial statements as treasury/own shares. The cost of 
treasury shares subsequently sold or reissued is calculated on a weighted-average basis. 
Consideration, if any, received for the sale of such shares is also recognised in equity. No gain or loss is 
recognised in the income statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of equity shares.   
 
Trade and other receivables and contract assets  
Trade receivables and contract assets 
A receivable represents the Group’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e., 
only the passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due). A contract asset is 
the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the customer. 
 
Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables and contract assets  
For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating 
expected credit losses ‘ECLs’. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead, 
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established 
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking 
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. A financial asset is written off when 
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. The Group’s receivables 
have a good credit rating and there has been no noted change in the credit risk of receivables in the 
year.  
 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
Revenue from contracts with customers 
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are 
transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects 
to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods provided in the 
normal course of business, net of discounts, customs duties and sales taxes. The Group has concluded 
that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements because it typically controls the goods or services 
before transferring them to the customer. 
 
The sale of crude oil, gas or condensate represents a single performance obligation, being the sale of 
barrels equivalent on collection of a cargo or on delivery of commodity into an infrastructure. Revenue 
is accordingly recognised for this performance obligation when control over the corresponding 
commodity is transferred to the customer. The Group principally satisfies its performance obligations 
at a point in time and the amounts of revenue recognised relating to performance obligations satisfied 
over time are not significant. The normal credit term is 15 to 30 days upon collection or delivery. 
 
Finance Revenue 
Finance revenue chiefly comprises interest income from cash deposits on the basis of the effective 
interest rate method and is disclosed separately on the face of the income statement. 
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Finance Costs 
Finance costs of debt are allocated to periods over the term of the related debt using the effective 
interest method. Arrangement fees and issue costs are amortised and charged to the income 
statement as finance costs over the term of the debt. 
 
Share-Based Payment Transactions 
Employees (including Executive Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payment transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over 
shares (‘equity-settled transactions’).  
 
Equity-settled transactions 
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at 
the date on which they are granted. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any 
service or performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of Serica 
Energy plc (‘market conditions’), if applicable. 
 
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, 
over the period in which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (the ‘vesting 
period’). The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date 
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best 
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The income statement charge 
or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning 
and end of that period. 
 
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is 
conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of 
whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance 
conditions are satisfied. For equity awards cancelled by forfeiture when vesting conditions are not met, 
any expense previously recognised is reversed and recognised as a credit in the income statement. 
Equity awards cancelled are treated as vesting immediately on the date of cancellation, and any 
expense not recognised for the award at that date is recognised in the income statement. Estimated 
associated national insurance charges are expensed in the income statement on an accruals basis. 
 
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified or a new award is designated as replacing a 
cancelled or settled award, the cost based on the original award terms continues to be recognised over 
the original vesting period. In addition, an expense is recognised over the remainder of the new vesting 
period for the incremental fair value of any modification, based on the difference between the fair 
value of the original award and the fair value of the modified award, both as measured on the date of 
the modification. No reduction is recognised if this difference is negative. 
 
Income Taxes 
Current tax, including UK corporation tax and overseas corporation tax, is provided at amounts 
expected to be paid using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the balance sheet date. 
 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method and tax rates and laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Provision is made for temporary differences at the 
balance sheet date between the tax bases of the assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences except for: 
 

• temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled by the Group and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and 
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• temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the income 
statement nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible 
temporary differences. 

 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can 
be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented net only if there is a legally enforceable 
right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and if the deferred tax assets and 
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority. 
 
Dividends 
The Company recognises a liability to pay a dividend when the distribution is authorised, and the 
distribution is no longer at the discretion of the Company. A corresponding amount is recognised 
directly in equity. 
 
Earnings Per Share 
Earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the period. Diluted earnings per share is calculated based on the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the period plus the weighted average number of shares that would 
be issued on the conversion of all relevant potentially dilutive shares to ordinary shares. It is assumed 
that any proceeds obtained on the exercise of any options and warrants would be used to purchase 
ordinary shares at the average price during the period. Where the impact of converted shares would 
be anti-dilutive, these are excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings. 
 
Leases 
As a lessee, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement 
date. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not 
paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease, or, if that rate 
cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.  
 
The lease liability is subsequently recorded at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. 
The liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in 
an index or rate or if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension 
or termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment 
is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.  
 
The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct 
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the 
underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets 
are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset.  
 
The Group does not currently act as a lessor. 
 
New and amended standards and interpretations 
The Group has adopted and applied for the first time, certain new standards, amended standards or 
interpretations, which are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. These 
include the following: 
 

- Amendments to IAS 1 – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 

- Amendments to IAS 1 – Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 
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- Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 – Supplier Finance Arrangements 

- Amendments to IFRS 16 – Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 
 

The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been 
issued but is not yet effective. Other than the changes described above, the accounting policies 
adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year.  
 
There are no new or amended standards or interpretations adopted from 1 January 2024 onwards, 
that have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.  
 
Standards issued but not yet effective 
Certain standards or interpretations issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the 
Group’s financial statements. These include the following: 
 

- IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (amendments) - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture 

- Amendments to IAS 21 – Lack of exchangeability 

- Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 – Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments 

- Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 – Power Purchase Agreements 

- Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards-Volume 11 

- IFRS 18 – Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 

- IFRS 19 – Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 
 
The Group intends to adopt them when they become effective. The Group is reviewing the potential 
impacts of IFRS 18 but the other new or amended standards not yet adopted are not expected to have 
a material impact on the financial statements. 
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3.  Segment Information   
For the purposes of segmental reporting, the Group currently operates a single class of business being 
oil and gas exploration, development and production and related activities in a single geographical 
area, being presently the UK North Sea. 
 
4.  Sales Revenue 

  Restated* 
 2024 2023 
 $000 $000 
   
 
Gas sales 374,719 429,987 
Gas supply contract revenue - 1,227 
   
Total gas sales 374,719 431,214 
   
Oil sales 317,478 332,265 
NGL sales 34,981 25,441 
   
Total revenue 727,178 788,920 

   
*See note 2 
 
Gas sales revenue in 2024 arose from three key customers (2023: three). Gas supply contract revenue 
in 2023 arose from the unwind of gas contract liabilities initially recognised upon the restructuring of 
certain gas swaps to other fixed price instruments under a gas sales contract in August 2021.  
 
Oil sales revenue in 2024 was from three key customers (2023: three), and NGL sales in 2024 were 
made to eight customers (2023: six).  
 
The revenue from three significant customers individually comprising $441.4 million, $181.1 million 
and $78.2 million constitutes more than 10% of total revenue amounting to $700.7 million (2023: three 
customers comprising $491.7 million, $203.7 million and $80.6 million individually comprising $776.0 
million).   
 
5.  Cost of Sales 

  Restated* 
 2024 2023 
 $000 $000 
   
 
Operating costs 329,820 272,686 
Lifting costs 6,874 8,853 
Change in decommissioning estimates expensed (note 20) 601 461 
Depletion (note 13) 187,250 136,335 
Movement in liquids overlift/underlift   (20,564) (11,545) 
   
 503,981 406,790 
   

 
*See note 2 
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6.  Operating Profit 
 
General and administrative expenses 
General and administrative expenses of $21,601,000 (2023: $24,486,000) included depreciation of 
right of use assets of $1,070,000 (2023: $216,000). Transaction costs of $12,539,000 incurred in 2023 
associated with the acquisition of Tailwind Energy Investments Ltd were disclosed separately on the 
face of the Income Statement and in note 29. 
 
Depreciation and depletion expense 
Depreciation of right of use assets totalled $2,114,000 (2023: $996,000) of which $1,044,000 (2023: 
$780,000) was allocated to cost of sales and $1,070,000 (2023: $216,000) allocated to administrative 
expenses. 
 
Depletion charges on oil and gas properties are classified within cost of sales. 
 
Auditor’s Remuneration 
 

  Restated* 
 2024 

£000 
2023 

 $000 $000 
   
Audit of the Group accounts 960 900 
Audit of the Company’s accounts 50 40 
Audit of accounts of Company’s subsidiaries 120 160 

1,100 Total audit fees 1,130 1,100 

   
*See note 2 
 
No fees were paid to Ernst & Young LLP and its associates for non-audit services in 2023 or 2024. 
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7.  Staff Costs and Directors’ Emoluments 
 

   Restated* 
a) Staff Costs - Group 2024 2023 
  $000 $000 
 
Wages and salaries 35,641 32,233 
Social security costs 7,238 8,073 
Other pension costs 3,140 3,321 
Share-based long-term incentives 3,735 4,942 
    

  49,754 48,569 

    
The average number of persons employed by the Group during the year was 222 
(2023: 202), with 12 in management functions (2023: 11), 185 in technical functions 
(2023: 172) and 25 (2023: 19) in finance and administrative functions. 

 
   
Staff costs for key management personnel:   
Short-term employee benefits 3,855 3,358 
Post-employment benefits 130 152 
Share-based payments (note 25) 193 2,911 
    

  4,178 6,421 

    
b) Directors’ Emoluments   
The emoluments of the individual Directors were as follows. All amounts are paid in £ sterling.   
Figures in the table below are translated into $ at a 2024 average exchange rate. 
   Restated* 
   2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2023 
   Salary and Bonus Pension Benefits Total Total 
   fees   in kind   
   $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
        
M Flegg (1),(2) 239 299 31 - 569 1,272 
A Bell (1),(3) 42 13 6 - 61 794 
D Latin 651 320 - - 971 203 
C Cox (1),(4) 383 173 42 1 599 - 
M Copeland (1),(5) 463 169 51 1 684 - 
A Craven Walker (6) - - - - - 305 
T Garlick (7) - - - - - 44 
M Webb (8) 64 - - - 64 85 
K Coppinger 96 - - - 96 85 
J Schmitt  89 - - - 89 81 
M Soeting (9) 89 - - - 89 76 
R Lawson (10) 77 - - - 77 57 
G Vermersch (11) 77 - - - 77 57 
K Van Hecke (12) 89 - - - 89 40 
S Lloyd Rees (13) 77 - - - 77 35 

   2,436 974 130 2 3,542 3,134 

 *See note 2   
 Note (1) Cash in lieu of pension   
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 Note (2) Mitch Flegg stepped down as director on 23 April 2024. He was also paid £350,000 
($447,000) as payment in lieu of remaining notice (see Directors’ Remuneration Report). 

 Note (3) Andrew Bell retired on 5 February 2024 
 Note (4) Chris Cox was appointed on 1 July 2024 
 Note (5) Martin Copeland was appointed on 5 February 2024 
 Note (6) Antony Craven Walker retired on 30 June 2023 
 Note (7) Trevor Garlick retired on 17 July 2023 
 Note (8) Malcolm Webb retired on 27 June 2024 
 Note (9) Michiel Soeting was appointed on 1 February 2023 
 Note (10) Robert Lawson was appointed on 23 March 2023 
 Note (11) Guillaume Vermersch was appointed on 23 March 2023 
 Note (12) Kaat Van Hecke was appointed on 17 July 2023 
 Note (13) Sian Lloyd Rees was appointed on 17 July 2023 
     
   2024 2023 
 Number of Directors securing benefits under defined   
 contribution schemes during the year 4 2 
 Number of Directors who exercised share options 2 3 

    
   Restated* 
  2024 2023 
  $000 $000 
 Aggregate gains made by Directors on the exercise of options - 1,921 
    

 
The Group defines key management personnel as the Directors of the Company. There are no 
transactions with Directors other than their remuneration as disclosed above and those described in 
Note 28. 
 
8. Finance Revenue/Costs  

  Restated* 

 2024 2023 
 $000 $000 

Bank interest receivable 13,927 16,830 

Total finance revenue 13,927 16,830 

 
*See note 2 
 

  Restated* 

 2024 2023 
 $000 $000 

   

Loan interest payable 22,917 17,238 

Loan commitment fees amortised (note 21) 2,199 4,173 

Other financing fees 3,945 1,217 

Other charges and interest payable 2,733 637 

Unwinding of discount on provisions (note 20) 5,564 3,641 
   

Total finance costs 37,358 26,906 

 
*See note 2 
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9. Taxation 
 

   Restated* 
  2024 2023 
  $000 $000 
    
a) Tax charged/(credited) in the income statement 
  
 Charge for the year 14,191 225,839 
 Adjustment in respect of prior years (315) 2,349 
    

 Total current income tax charge 13,876 228,188 
    
 Deferred tax 
 Origination and reversal of temporary differences in the    
 current year 61,128 24,426 
 Adjustment in respect of prior years (6,935) - 
    

 Total deferred tax charge 
 

54,193 24,426 
    
    

 Tax charge in the income statement 68,069 252,614 

    
    
b) Reconciliation of the total tax charge/(credit) 
  
 The tax in the income statement for the year differs from the amount that would be 
 expected by applying the standard UK corporation tax rate for the following reasons: 
   Restated* 
  2024 

 
2023 

  $000 $000 
    
    
 Accounting profit before taxation 160,498 380,371 
    
 Statutory rate of corporation tax in the UK of 40% (2023: 40%)  

64,199 152,148 
 Permanent differences 9,067 3,959 
 Movement in unrecognised deferred tax assets 811 3,284 

 Investment Allowance (14,216) (5,382) 
 EPL – Rate differential 11,085 (11,790) 
 EPL - Income taxed at different rates 28,263 127,705 
 EPL – Investment allowance (25,158) (6,635) 
 Income tax at different rates 1,268 3,731 

 Adjustment in respect of prior years (7,250) 2,349 
 Non-taxable gain on acquisition - (16,755) 

 Tax charge reported in the income statement 68,069 252,614 
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c) Recognised and unrecognised tax losses 
  

 

The Group’s Balance Sheet has a deferred tax asset amount of $576.6 million as at the 31 December 
2024 (2023: $557.7 million) arising from ring-fence losses, decommissioning liabilities, other 
temporary differences, derivative financial libilities, and oil revenue contract liability. These deferred 
tax assets are expected to be recovered through utilisation against deferred tax liabilities, primarily 
related to temporary differences on fixed assets ($521.4 million) and through future taxable 
profits. The decrease in net deferred tax assets to $55.1 million as at 31 December 2024 (2023: $107.1 
million) in the year is primarily due to the increased deferred tax liabilities arising from the higher 
property, plant and equipment balances and reflecting the EPL rate increase from 35% to 38%, and a 
reduction in the deferred tax asset recognised on the Group’s oil revenue contract liability which 
substantially unwound during the year.  
 

The Group’s deferred tax assets at 31 December 2024 are recognised to the extent that taxable profits 
are expected to arise in the future against which tax losses and allowances in the UK can be utilised. 
In accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes, the Group assessed the recoverability of its deferred tax assets 
at 31 December 2024 with respect to ring fence losses and allowances.   

 

The Group has recognised deferred tax assets in full on its UK ring-fence losses but has unrecognised 
UK mainstream corporation tax losses and temporary differences of $147.9 million (2023: $151.1 
million) for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised at the Balance Sheet date. These tax 
losses and temporary differences are unrecognised because they streamed within entities for which 
no profits are expected.  

 
 

   Restated* 
 Unrecognised deferred tax assets 2024 2023 
  $000 $000 
    
 Tax losses 140,088 126,462 
 Other temporary differences 7,788 24,632 
    

 Total 147,876 151,094 

    
 The above unrecognised amounts have no expiry.   
    
  
d) Deferred tax 
 The deferred tax included in the balance sheet is as follows: 
   Restated* 
  2024 

 
2023 

   $000 $000 
    
 Deferred tax liability: 
 Temporary differences on capital expenditure (521,436) (450,645) 
    

 Deferred tax liability (521,436) (450,645) 
    
 Deferred tax asset: 
 Tax losses 427,568 421,726 
 Decommissioning liabilities 58,264 59,337 
 Investment allowances 53,765 42,081 
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 Contract liability 4,218 27,525 
 Other temporary differences 3,743 7,047 
 Derivative financial liabilities 29,017 - 
    

 Deferred tax asset 576,575 557,716 
    
 Net deferred tax asset 55,139 107,071 

  
 Reconciliation of net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 
   Restated* 
  2024 2023 
  $000 $000 
    
 At 1 January 107,071 (185,329) 
    
 Acquisitions (note 29) - 325,924 
 Tax charge during the year recognised in profit (54,193) (24,426) 
 Currency translation adjustment 2,261 (9,098) 
    

 At 31 December 55,139 107,071 

  
 The deferred tax in the Group income statement is as follows: 
   Restated* 
  2024 2023 
  $000 $000 
    
 Deferred tax in the income statement:   
 Temporary differences on capital expenditure 73,285 (23,542) 
 Tax losses (5,842) 33,726 
 Other temporary differences (13,250) 14,242 
    

 Deferred income tax charge 54,193 24,426 

    
    

*See note 2 
 
 
e)   Changes to UK corporation tax legislation 
 
Changes to UK corporation tax legislation 
Following the introduction of the Energy Profits Levy in 2022, on 24 May 2024, Finance (No.2) Act 
2024, enacted the Energy Security Investment Mechanism (ESIM). The ESIM operates to remove EPL 
if both average oil and gas prices fall to, or below, $74.21 per barrel for oil and 57p per therm for gas 
(as adjusted for prior year CPI with effect from 1 April 2024), for two consecutive quarters. The 
headline tax rate on UK oil and gas profits will then return to 40 per cent. The change as currently 
proposed is not expected to have a material impact for the Group. 
 
In October 2024, the UK government announced changes (effective from 1 November 2024) to the 
Energy Profits Levy including a 3% increase in the rate taking the headline rate of tax on North Sea 
profits to 78%, an extension to the period of application of the Levy to 31 March 2030 and the removal 
of the Levy’s main investment allowance. The changes to the rate and to the investment allowance 
were substantively enacted in November 2024 and have been applied in accounting for current tax 
and deferred tax in the year. The government confirmed in the announcement that the Energy Security 
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Investment Mechanism (‘ESIM’) would remain unchanged and that there were no planned changes to 
the way tax relief for capital expenditure is applied in the permanent ring fence regime.  
 
The extension of the EPL to 31 March 2030 was substantively enacted on 3 March 2025 and is therefore 
not reflected in the financial statements as at 31 December 2024. The impact will be included in the 
financial statements for the following period. If the extension had been in place at the balance sheet 
date, an additional deferred tax expense of $65.2 million would have been recognised in the current 
financial statements. 
 
The UK has introduced legislation implementing the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and 
Development’s (“OECD”) proposals for global minimum corporation tax rate (Pillar Two) which is 
effective for periods beginning on or after 31 December 2023. The only jurisdiction in which the Group 
operates is the UK and the Group does not expect an exposure to Pillar Two income taxes.  
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10.  Earnings Per Share 
Basic earnings or loss per ordinary share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit or loss for the 
year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the year. The weighted average number of shares outstanding excludes 
treasury shares and shares held by Employee Benefit Trusts. 
 
Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary 
equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion 
of dilutive potential ordinary shares granted under share-based payment plans (see note 25) and 
deferred consideration for the Tailwind acquisition (see note 29) into ordinary shares.  
 
The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share 
computations: 

  Restated* 
 2024 

 
2023 

 $000 $000 
   

Net profit from continuing operations 92,429 127,757 

   
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent 92,429 127,757 

   
 2024 2023 
 ’000 ’000 
   

Basic weighted average number of shares 389,095 360,643 

   
Dilutive potential of ordinary shares granted under  10,110 12,054 
share-based payment plans   
Dilutive potential of ordinary shares under deferred  339 1,849 
consideration for acquisition   
   

Diluted weighted average number of shares 399,544 374,546 

   
  Restated* 
 2024 2023 
 $ $ 
   
Basic EPS on profit for the year ($) 0.24 0.35 
Diluted EPS on profit for the year ($) 0.23 0.34 

 
*See note 2 
 
The 2023 Basic EPS on profit for the year and Diluted EPS on profit for the year were £0.29 and £0.27 
respectively before the restatement arising from change in presentation currency. 
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11.  Dividends proposed 
Proposed dividends on ordinary shares 
A final cash dividend for 2024 of 10.0 pence per share (2023: 14.0 pence per share) is proposed which 
would generate a payment of approximately $49.0 million (2023: $68.5 million). Proposed dividends 
on ordinary shares are subject to approval at the annual general meeting and are not recognised as a 
liability as at 31 December. 
 
Dividends on ordinary shares paid in 2024 
A final cash dividend for 2023 of 14.0 pence per share was proposed in April 2024 and approved at the 
annual general meeting on 27 June 2024 and $68.8 million (£54.4 million) was paid in July 2024.  
 
An interim cash dividend for 2024 of 9.0 pence per share was announced in September 2024 and $44.6 
million (£35.0 million) was paid in November 2024. 
 
 
12. Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

 
  
 Total 

 $000 
  

Cost: 
1 January 2023 (restated*) 1,210 
  
Additions 12,027 
Write-offs (10,871) 
Currency translation adjustment 91 

  

31 December 2023 (restated*) 
 

 

2,457 
  

Acquisitions (note 30) 7,665 
Additions 11,123 
Write-offs (851) 
Currency translation adjustment (27) 

  

31 December 2024 20,367 

 
  
Net book amount:  
31 December 2024 20,367 

   
31 December 2023 (restated*) 2,457 

  
  

 
*See note 2 
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13.  Property, Plant and Equipment 
 

 Oil and gas 
properties 

Equipment, 
fixtures and 

fittings 

Right-of-
use assets 

Total 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 
     
Cost: 

1 January 2023 (restated*) 580,639 256 1,042 581,937 
     
Acquisitions (note 29) 594,088 - 4,245 598,333 
Additions 85,626 - - 85,626 
Decom asset revisions (note 20) 20,384 - - 20,384 
Currency translation adjustment 31,731 14 55 31,800 
     
31 December 2023 (restated*) 
 

1,312,468 270 5,342 1,318,080 
     
Additions 264,000 - 5,069 269,069 
Decom asset revisions (note 20) 9,711 - - 9,711 
Currency translation adjustment (10,576) (4) (114) (10,694) 
     

31 December 2024 
 

1,575,603 266 10,297 1,586,166 
     
Depreciation and depletion: 

1 January 2023 (restated*) 259,427 256 780 260,463 
     
Charge for the year (note 5) 135,555 - 780 136,335 
Charge for the year - other - - 216 216 
Currency translation adjustment 15,247 14 45 15,306 
     
31 December 2023 (restated*) 410,229 270 1,821 412,320 
     
Charge for the year (note 5) 186,206 - 1,044 187,250 
Charge for the year - other - - 1,070 1,070 
Currency translation adjustment (6,021) (4) (37) (6,062) 
     
31 December 2024 590,414 266 3,898 594,578 
     
Net book amount: 
31 December 2024 985,189 - 6,399 991,588 

     
31 December 2023 (restated*) 
 

902,239 - 3,521 905,760 

     
*See note 2 
 
Depreciation and depletion 
Depletion charges on oil and gas properties are classified within ‘cost of sales’. $1,044,000 and 
$1,070,000 of right of use asset depreciation has been charged to cost of sales and administrative 
expenses respectively. 
 
Impairment of oil and gas properties 
A review was performed for any indication that the value of the Group’s oil and gas assets may be 
impaired at the balance sheet date of 31 December 2024 in accordance with the stated policy. The 
Group considers the relationship between its market capitalisation and its book value, among other 
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factors, when reviewing for indicators of impairment. As at 31 December 2024, the market 
capitalisation of the Group was below the book value of its equity, which was assessed by management 
as a trigger for potential impairment of its oil and gas assets. 
 
In assessing whether a write-down is required in the carrying value of a potentially impaired item of 
property, plant and equipment, the asset’s carrying value is compared with its recoverable amount 
being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 
 
The recoverable amount of the Group’s CGUs , which represent individual oil and gas fields or a group 
of fields within a production area, has been determined based on a fair value less costs to sell (‘FVLCS’) 
calculation on an income approach using a discounted cash flow model. The projected cash flows are 
adjusted for risks specific to the assets and are discounted using a post-tax discount rate of 9%. The 
future recoverable amounts of the Group’s oil and gas assets were assessed against their carrying 
amounts and no impairment was identified.  
 
The calculation of FVLCS is most sensitive to the following assumptions: reserve estimates, oil and gas 
commodity prices, discount rates and growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows during the forecast 
period. 
 
The Group considers a 10% change in the oil and gas prices and a 1% increase in the post-tax discount 
rate to be reasonable possibilities for the purpose of sensitivity analysis. Based on sensitivities 
performed, there is no risk of a material adjustment to the carrying value of the CGUs, because a 
reasonable change in key assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount would not result in 
an impairment. 
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14.  Inventories 
 

  Restated* 

 2024 2023 
 $000 $000 
   

Materials and spare parts 7,365 6,340 

Hydrocarbons 7,519 7,520 
   

 14,884 13,860 

   
*See note 2 
 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by the first-in 
first-out method and comprises direct purchase costs and transportation expenses. Inventories are 
recorded net of an obsolescence provision of $3.8 million (2023: $3.9 million).  
 
15.  Trade and Other receivables 
 

  Restated* 

 2024 2023 
 $000 $000 
Due within one year:   

Trade receivables 56,847 106,182 
Amounts recoverable from JV partners 2,733 2,190 
Other receivables 7,436 5,663 
BKR advance payments 27,989 19,981 
Prepayments  9,572 13,740 
VAT recoverable 6,923 3,214 
Liquids underlift 46,617 25,485 
   

 158,117 176,455 

   
*See note 2 
 
Trade receivables at 31 December 2024 arose from seven (2023: seven) customers. They are non-
interest bearing and are generally on 15 to 30-day terms. 
 
None of the Group’s receivables are considered impaired and there are no financial assets past due 
but not impaired at the year end. The Directors consider the carrying amount of trade and other 
receivables approximates to their fair value. Management considers that there are no other significant 
concentrations of credit risk within the Group.  
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16. Derivative financial assets/(liabilities) 
 

  Restated* 

 2024 2023 
 $000 $000 
Financial assets   

Derivative financial instruments 5,185 - 

   
   
Financial liabilities   
Derivative financial instruments (<1year) (31,185) (5,564) 
Derivative financial instruments (>1 year) (11,201) - 
   

Derivative financial instruments (42,386) (5,564) 

   
 
 
*See note 2 
 
Fair value hierarchy 
All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised within the fair 
value hierarchy, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole, as follows: Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities; Level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) observable; Level 
3: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable. The valuation methodology for derivative financial instruments is 
detailed below and for contingent consideration is disclosed in note 19. A table summarising the 
Group’s liabilities measured at fair value is included in note 22. 
  
Derivative financial instruments 
The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with various counterparties. Commodity and 
foreign currency derivative contracts are designated as at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL), 
and gains and losses on these contracts are recognised in the income statement. Derivative financial 
instruments held at 31 December 2024 comprised oil and gas swaps and collars and at 31 December 
2023 solely comprised UKA ETS swaps. These were valued by counterparties, with the valuations 
reviewed internally and corroborated with readily available market data of forward pricing (level 2). 
Details of the Group’s derivative financial instruments held as at 31 December 2024 are provided in 
note 22. The mark-to-market of the Group’s open contracts as at 31 December 2024 was a net liability 
of $37.2 million (2023: net liability of $5.6 million). 
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The following gains and losses were recognised in the income statement: 

  Restated* 

Commodity contracts designated as FVTPL 2024 2023 
 $000 $000 
   
Mark-to-market unrealised (losses)/gains (31,814) 30,573 
Other unrealised (losses) - (5,256) 
   

Unrealised hedging (expense)/income (31,814) 25,317 

   
Swaps matured during the year (3,392) (15,062) 
Other contracts matured during the year (8,268) (4,407) 
   

Realised hedging expense (11,660) (19,469) 

   

Hedging (expense)/income (43,474) 5,848 

   
*See note 2 
 
Unrealised hedging losses in 2024 comprise losses on gas swaps partially offset by unrealised gains on 
the UKA ETS swap instruments held (2023: gains on gas swaps). Unrealised hedging losses on gas and 
other swaps comprise unrealised charges on the movement during the year in the calculated fair value 
liability of outstanding gas price or other derivative contracts measured at the respective Balance 
Sheet dates. 
 
Realised hedging losses measured at fair value through profit or loss for 2024 comprise losses realised 
on oil, gas and UKA ETS swaps. For 2023 losses were realised on gas swaps and UKA ETS swaps. 
 
 
Contract liabilities 

  Restated* 

 2024 2023 
 $000 $000 
   
Contract liabilities 5,408 36,700 
   

 5,408 36,700 

   
*See note 2 
 
On acquisition of Tailwind Energy Investments Ltd (see note 29) a pre-existing oil revenue contract was 
fair valued, resulting in contract liabilities of $66.7 million (£54.2 million) being recognised. The 
contract liabilities represent the differential in contract pricing and market price and are realised as 
performance obligations are considered met in the underlying revenue contract. To the extent the 
contract liability represents the fair value differential between contract price and market price, it is 
unwound through ‘contract revenue – other’ upon satisfaction of the performance obligation. $31.3 
million has been released to the Income Statement in 2024 (2023: $30.0 million).  
 
The gas contract liability of $1,193,000 as at 1 January 2023 represented a separate contract liability 
which had arisen upon the restructuring of certain hedging arrangements in 2021, and was fully 
released to the Income Statement in 2023. 
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17.  Cash and cash equivalents 
 

  Restated* 

 2024 2023 
 $000 $000 
   
Cash at bank and in hand  123,390 231,904 
Short-term deposits 25,070 103,529 
   

 148,460 335,433 

*See note 2 
 
As at 31 December 2024, the cash balance of $148.5 million (2023: $335.4 million) contained amounts 
of $31.0 million held in separate bank accounts for the purpose of providing security against letters of 
credit issued in respect of certain decommissioning liabilities (2023: $23.3 million). The use of cash is 
restricted by virtue of contractual restrictions with a 3rd party. 
 
 
Decommissioning Security Agreement (‘DSA’) cash advances 
DSA cash advances of $35.1 million at 31 December 2023 represented cash security temporarily lodged 
in respect of decommissioning obligations. These were not included in the cash and cash equivalents 
balance of $335.4 million above but were released to Serica in 2024 when security was provided under 
the new financing facility.  
 
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are 
made for varying periods with original maturities of between one day and three months at the date 
acquired. They are considered to be readily convertible into cash and subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value. The placing of deposits depends on the immediate cash requirements of the Group 
and they earn interest at the respective short to medium-term deposit rates.  
 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from potential default of a counterparty, with a maximum 
exposure equal to the carrying amount. The Group seeks to minimise counterparty credit risks by only 
depositing cash surpluses with major banks of high-quality credit standing and spreading the 
placement of funds over a range of institutions.  
 
Financial institutions, and their credit ratings, which held greater than 10% of the Group’s cash and 
short-term deposits at the balance sheet date were as follows: 
 

   Restated* 
 S&P/Moody’s  2024 2023 
 credit rating $000 $000 
    
Barclays Bank plc A-1 59,472 37,077 
Lloyds Bank plc A-1 55,980 163,449 
DNB Bank ASA P-1 32,945 83,223 
Investec Bank plc P-1 - 51,614 

*See note 2 
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18.  Trade and Other Payables 
 

  Restated* 

 2024 2023 
 $000 $000 

Current:   

Trade payables  40,884 21,704 

Other payables 2,112 1,593 

Deferred revenue 22,357 7,830 

Accrued expenses 87,485 75,394 

Liquids overlift 15,449 15,131 

   

 168,287 121,652 

   
*See note 2 
 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 15 to 30 day terms. 
 
Accrued expenses include accruals for operating and capital expenditure in relation to the oil and gas 
assets. The Directors consider the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates to their 
fair value. 
 
Deferred revenue includes $22.4 million (2023: $7.8 million) relating to oil not yet delivered. $7.8 
million from FY 2023 has been moved to revenue in 2024, reflecting the completion of the 
performance obligation. 
 
19. Financial liabilities 

 
 
 
 
 
 

BKR Royalty Other  
 consideration liability consideration Total 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 
     
At 31 December 2023 (restated*) 44,923 37,828 4,627 87,378 
     
     
Change in fair value liability 5,627 (2,279) (810) 2,538 
Payments and settlements - - (3,858) (3,858) 
Transfer to accruals - (3,380) - (3,380) 
Currency translation adjustment (796) - 41 (755) 
     
At 31 December 2024 49,754 32,169 - 81,923 
     
Classified as:     
Current - - - - 
Non-current 49,754 32,169 - 81,923 
     
At 31 December 2024 49,754 32,169 - 81,923 
     
Classified as:     
Current - - 4,627 4,627 
Non-current 44,923 37,828 - 82,751 
     
At 31 December 2023 44,923 37,828 4,627 87,378 
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*See note 2 
 
BKR consideration 
On 30 November 2018 Serica completed the four BKR acquisitions. The following elements of 
consideration were outstanding at 31 December 2023 and 2024:  

 

• BP, Total E&P and BHP retain liability, in respect of the field interests Serica acquired from each 
of them, for all the costs of decommissioning those facilities that existed at the date of 
completion. Serica will pay deferred consideration equal to 30% of actual future 
decommissioning costs, reduced by the tax relief that each of BP, Total E&P and BHP receives 
on such costs.  

• Serica will pay to each of BP, Total E&P and BHP, deferred consideration equal to 90% of their 
respective shares of the realised value of oil in the Bruce pipeline at the end of field life (see 
note 20).  

 
Fair value measurement of BKR contingent consideration  
The fair value of the contingent consideration is estimated as at applicable reporting dates from a 
valuation technique using future expected discounted cash flows. This methodology uses several 
significant unobservable inputs which are categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 
 
The calculations are complex and involve a range of projections and assumptions related to estimates 
of future decommissioning expenditure, taxation, future operating and development costs, production 
volumes, oil and gas sales prices and discount rates. The underlying assumptions have been updated 
from 2023. Estimated contingent consideration payments have been calculated at a discount rate of 
10% (2023: 10%). 
 
Given the multiple input variables and judgements used in the calculations, and the inter relationships 
between changes in these variables, an estimate of a reasonable range of possible outcomes of 
undiscounted value of the contingent consideration has not been considered feasible. In isolation, the 
calculations are most sensitive to assumed oil and gas reserves, production profiles, estimated 
decommissioning costs and future commodity prices.  
 
A sensitivity analysis to the discount rate used shows a decrease in the discount rate used from 10% 
to 9% would result in an increase in the fair value of the contingent consideration by $4.3 million, and 
an increase from 10% to 11% would result in a decrease in the fair value of the contingent 
consideration by $3.8 million.  
 
Royalty liability 
Royalty represents amounts payable under a pre-existing Tailwind sale and purchase agreement 
subject to future production volumes and commodity prices over the life of certain assets in the Triton 
Cluster.  
 
The fair value of the royalty liability is estimated as at applicable reporting dates from a valuation 
technique using future expected discounted cash flows. This methodology uses several significant 
unobservable inputs which are categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The calculations 
involve a range of assumptions related to oil prices, production volumes and discount rates. Estimated 
payments have been calculated at a discount rate of 9.0% (2023: 8.5%).  
 
Given the multiple input variables and judgements used in the calculations, and the inter relationships 
between changes in these variables, an estimate of a reasonable range of possible outcomes of 
undiscounted value of the contingent consideration has not been considered feasible. In isolation, the 



 - 63 - 

calculations are most sensitive to assumed oil and gas reserves, production profiles, estimated 
decommissioning costs and future commodity prices.  
 
A sensitivity analysis to the oil price assumption used shows a 10% increase in the oil price assumed 
would result in an increase in the fair value of the royalty liability by $8.8 million (2023: $11.3 million).  
 
Other consideration 
Other consideration reflected the remaining deferred consideration payable under the Tailwind 
acquisition. This was settled in March 2024 (see note 29). 
 
 
20.  Provisions 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Decommissioning Other  
 provision provision Total 
 $000 $000 $000 
    
At 1 January 2023 (restated*) 30,465 - 30,465 
    
Acquisitions (note 29) 92,886 493 93,379 
Change in estimate (note 13) 20,384 - 20,384 
Change in estimate expensed (note 5) 461 - 461 
Unwinding of discount (note 8) 3,641 - 3,641 
Payments (1,112) (81) (1,193) 
Currency translation adjustment 1,621 - 1,621 
    
At 31 December 2023 (restated*) 148,346 412 148,758 
    
Change in estimate (note 13) 9,711 - 9,711 
Change in estimate expensed (note 5) 601 - 601 
Unwinding of discount (note 8) 5,564 - 5,564 
Payments (18,142) (97) (18,239) 
Currency translation adjustment (421) - (421) 
    
At 31 December 2024 145,659 315 145,974 
    
Classified as:    
Current - - - 
Non-current 145,659 315 145,974 
    
At 31 December 2024 145,659 315 145,974 
    
Classified as:    
Current 16,467 - 16,467 
Non-current 131,879 412 132,291 
    
At 31 December 2023 148,346 412 148,758 
    

*See note 2 
 
Decommissioning provision 
The decommissioning provision represents the present value of decommissioning costs relating to oil 
and gas interests in the UK which are expected to be incurred up to 2036. 
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Bruce, Keith and Rhum fields 
The Group makes full provision for the future costs of decommissioning its production facilities and 
pipelines on a discounted basis. With respect to the Bruce, Keith and Rhum fields, the 
decommissioning provision is based on the Group’s contractual obligations of 3.75%, 8.33334% and 
0% respectively of the decommissioning liabilities rather than the Group’s equity interests acquired. 
The Group’s provision represents the present value of decommissioning costs which are expected to 
be incurred up to 2036 and assumes no further development of the Group’s assets. The liability is 
discounted at a rate of 4.5% (2023: 3.75%) and the unwinding of the discount is classified as a finance 
cost (see note 8). 
 
Triton area 
The Triton area decommissioning provision is based on Serica group’s obligations which are in excess 
of certain agreed decommissioning liability caps with the previous owners of Tailwind’s equity interests 
in Triton. The Group’s provision represents the present value of decommissioning costs which are 
expected to be incurred up to 2036 and assumes no further development of the Group’s assets. These 
provisions have been created based on the Group’s internal estimates and, where available, operator 
estimates and third-party reports. These estimates are reviewed regularly to take into account any 
material changes to the assumptions. The liability is discounted at a rate of 4.5% (2023: 3.75%) and 
the unwinding of the discount is classified as a finance cost (see note 8). 
 
Orlando, Arthur and Columbus fields 
The Group makes full provision for the decommissioning liabilities for these fields on its respective 
equity interests. Decommissioning work on the Arthur field was completed in 2024 and the Group’s 
provision, as at 31 December 2024, represents the present value of decommissioning costs which are 
expected to be incurred between 2027 and up to 2030 and assumes no further development of the 
Group’s assets. The liability is discounted at a rate of 4.5% (2023: 3.75%) and the unwinding of the 
discount is classified as a finance cost (see note 8). 
 
Erskine field 
No provision for decommissioning liabilities for the Erskine field is recorded as at 31 December 2023 
or 2024 as the Group’s current estimate for such costs is under the agreed capped level to be funded 
by BP. This has been fixed at a gross £174.0 million (£31.32 million net to Serica) with this figure 
adjusted for inflation.  
 
Other 
The estimation of costs, inflation and discount rates are considered to be judgemental and actual 
decommissioning costs will ultimately depend upon future market prices for the necessary 
decommissioning works required, which will reflect market conditions at the relevant time. 
Furthermore, the timing of decommissioning is likely to depend on when the fields cease to produce 
at economically viable rates. This in turn will depend upon future oil and gas prices, which are 
inherently uncertain. 
 
If the cost estimates were increased by 10% and the discount rate reduced by 1%, the value of the 
provisions could increase by c.$30.9 million (2023: c. $29.4 million). 
 
The Group considers the impact of climate change and Net Zero targets, including action that may 
impose further requirements and costs on companies in the future, on decommissioning provisions, 
specifically the timing of future cash flows, and has concluded that it does not currently represent a 
key source of estimation uncertainty. As all of the Group’s currently producing assets are projected to 
cease production by 2036 it is believed that any such future changes would have limited impact 
compared to assets with longer durations.  
 
21. Interest bearing loans and borrowings 
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The Group’s loan is carried at amortised cost as 
follows:   
   Restated* 
  2024 2023 
  $000 $000 
    

Reserve based lending – at 1 January  271,200 - 
    
Acquisitions (note 29)  - 325,827 
Repayments of borrowings – original facility  (271,200) (102,000) 
Proceeds from borrowings  283,500 43,200 
Repayments of borrowings – new facility  (52,500) - 
RBL commitment fees on entering loan  (14,069) - 
Amortisation of fees (note 8)  2,199 4,173 
    

Reserve based lending – at 31 December  219,130 271,200 

    
Due within one year  - - 
Due after more than one year  219,130 271,200 

  219,130 271,200 

*See note 2 
 
New Reserve Based Lending (‘RBL’) facility arrangements effective January 2024 
In December 2023 Serica announced the signing of a new $525 million secured RBL facility. Following 
the satisfaction of conditions precedent, this completed in January 2024 and refinanced the Group’s 
previous financing arrangements of an RBL facility of $425 million of which $271.2 million was drawn 
at 31 December 2023.  
 
The RBL facility is a revolving credit facility available in multiple currencies, it provides significantly 
increased liquidity to support future acquisitions and investments and has established new 
relationships with a syndicate of leading international banks. The maximum facility amount amortises 
on a six-monthly basis starting on 1 July 2027 to final maturity on 31 December 2029.  The interest rate 
for loan drawings is SOFR plus a margin of 3.90% per annum and the Borrowing Base Assets comprise 
all of Serica’s interests in producing fields with the exception of Serica’s largest single producing field 
the Rhum field, and the available amount under the facility is subject to semi-annual redeterminations. 
The RBL includes a financial covenant to maintain net debt/EBITDAX cover ratio below 3.5x and other 
terms and conditions are consistent with Loan Market Association terms for comparable syndicated 
RBL financings. The financial covenant is tested on a biannual basis. As at 31 December 2024 Serica is 
fully compliant with the financial covenant and all other terms of the facility. The new facility also 
includes a separate $100 million sub limit which can be utilised to issue Letters of Credit without the 
need for cash security.  
 
The facility agreement also has an uncommitted accordion feature which provides an option for an 
additional financing of up to $525 million, amounting to facilities of up to $1,050 million. The accordion 
facility can be exercised within thirty-six months of the facility signing date, subject to certain 
conditions. 
 
An amount of $283.5 million was drawn down from the new RBL facility in January 2024 to repay the 
previous RBL balance of $271.2 million as well as previous RBL interest and fees ($1.7 million) and 
the main portion of new RBL commitment fees ($10.6 million). These payments were made directly 
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by the new RBL banks to the relevant parties on Serica’s instructions. In February 2024, the Group 
made a voluntary repayment of $52.5 million.  
 
In December 2024, Serica completed the semi-annual redetermination under its RBL facility. Following 
that redetermination, the borrowing was reconfirmed at a level in excess of the facility size and as a 
result was capped at the full amount of the committed facility of $525 million. 
 
 
 
22.  Financial Instruments 
The Group’s financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, bank loans and borrowings, 
accounts payable and accounts receivable, derivative financial instruments and contingent 
consideration. It is management’s opinion that the Group is not exposed to significant interest, credit 
or currency risks arising from its financial instruments other than as discussed below: 

 
Serica has exposure to interest rate fluctuations on its cash deposits and given the level of 
expenditure plans over 2025/26 this is managed in the short-term through selecting treasury 
deposit periods of one to three months. Cash and treasury credit risks are mitigated through 
spreading the placement of funds over a range of institutions each carrying acceptable published 
credit ratings to minimise concentration and counterparty risk. 
 
Serica sells oil, gas and related products only to recognised international oil and gas companies 
and has no previous history of default or non-payment of trade receivables. Where Serica operates 
joint ventures on behalf of partners it seeks to recover the appropriate share of costs from these 
third parties. The majority of partners in these ventures are well established oil and gas companies. 
In the event of non-payment, operating agreements typically provide recourse through increased 
venture shares.  
  
Serica retains certain non-$ cash holdings and other financial instruments relating to its 
operations. The $ reporting currency value of these may fluctuate from time to time causing 
reported foreign exchange gains and losses. Serica maintains a broad strategy of matching the 
currency of funds held on deposit with the expected expenditures in those currencies. 
Management believes that this mitigates most of any actual potential currency risk from financial 
instruments. 

 
It is management’s opinion that the fair value of its financial instruments approximate to their carrying 
values, unless otherwise noted. 
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Interest Rate Risk Profile of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
The interest rate profile of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December is as follows: 

Group 
Year ended 31 December 2024    
 Within 1 year 1-2 years  2-5 years Total 

 Fixed rate $000 $000 $000 $000 
Short-term deposits  25,070 - - 25,070 
    25,070 

     
 Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years Total 

 Floating rate $000 $000 $000 $000 
Cash 123,390 - - 123,390 
Loans and borrowings - - (231,000) (231,000) 
    (107,610) 

     
Year ended 31 December 2023     
 Within 1 year 1-2 years  2-5 years Total 

 Fixed rate $000 $000 $000 $000 
Short-term deposits 103,529 - - 103,529 

    103,529 

     
     
 Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years Total 

 Floating rate $000 $000 $000 $000 
Cash 231,904 - - 231,904 
Loans and borrowings - - (271,200) (271,200) 

    (39,296) 

 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of finance revenue and finance costs to a reasonably 
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before 
tax (through the impact on fixed rate short-term deposits and applicable bank loans).  
 

Increase/decrease in interest rate Effect on profit Effect on profit 
 before tax before tax 

 2024 2023 

 $000 $000 

   

+0.75% 319 1,705 

-0.75%  (319) (1,705)  
 
The other financial instruments of the Group that are not included in the above tables are non-interest 
bearing and are therefore not subject to interest rate risk. 
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Credit risk 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the default of a counterparty 
with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying value as at the balance sheet date. Cash and treasury 
credit risks are mitigated through spreading the placement of funds over a range of institutions each 
carrying acceptable published credit ratings to minimise counterparty risk.  
 
In addition, there are credit risks of commercial counterparties including exposures in respect of 
outstanding receivables. The Group’s oil and gas sales are all contracted with well-established oil and 
gas or energy companies. Also, where Serica operates joint ventures on behalf of partners it seeks to 
recover the appropriate share of costs from the third-party counterparties. The majority of partners in 
these ventures are well established oil and gas companies. In the event of non-payment, operating 
agreements typically provide recourse through increased venture shares. Receivable balances are 
monitored on an ongoing basis with appropriate follow-up action taken where necessary. 
 
Foreign currency risk 
The Group enters into transactions denominated in currencies other than its US dollar reporting 
currency. The Group’s non-US dollar denominated balances, subject to exchange rate fluctuations, at 
year-end were as follows: 

 2024 2023 
 $000 $000 
Cash and cash equivalents:   

Pounds Sterling 
 

121,618 188,333 
Norwegian kroner - 7 
Euros 269 150 

   

Accounts receivable:  
Pounds Sterling 
 

78,306 104,504 
Euros 369 340 

   
Trade and other payables:   
Pounds Sterling 
 

113,081 109,568 
Norwegian kroner 259 - 
Euros 224 - 

 
The following table demonstrates the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase or decrease in the Pounds 
Sterling against the US Dollar. The sensitivity analysis includes only foreign currency denominated 
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year-end for a 10% change in the foreign currency 
rate.  

 Effect on profit Effect on profit 
 before tax before tax 

Increase/decrease in foreign exchange rate 2024 2023 

 $000 $000 

   

10% strengthening of US$ against Pounds Sterling 
 

31,300 18,327 
10% weakening of US$ against Pounds Sterling 
 

(31,300) (18,327)  
 
Liquidity risk 
 
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group and Company’s financial assets and 
liabilities at 31 December 2024 based on contractual undiscounted payments. The Group monitors its 
risk to a potential shortage of funds by monitoring the maturity dates of existing debt. 
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As at 31 December 2024 Within 1 

year 
1 to 2 
years 

2 to 5 
years 

>5 years 
Total 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Assets      
Derivative financial assets 5,185 - - - 5,185 
Liabilities      
Trade and other payables* 130,481 - - - 130,481 
Leases 1,418 1,301     2,468                              - 5,187 

Loans and borrowings - - 231,000  231,000 
Derivative financial liabilities 31,185 11,201 - - 42,386 
Royalty liability - 9,123 21,725 13,870 44,718 
      
As at 31 December 2023 Within 1 

year 
1 to 2 
years 

2 to 5 
years 

>5 years 
Total 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
      
Liabilities 
Trade and other payables* 

 
98,691 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
98,691 

Leases 709 662 989 - 2,360 
Loans and borrowings - - 271,200 - 271,200 
Derivative financial liabilities 5,564 - - - 5,564 
Royalty liability 6,906 8,797 18,377 20,829 54,909 
      

 
*excludes overlift balances and deferred revenue 
 
Amounts payable as BKR contingent consideration are explained in detail in note 19. 
 
Commodity price risk 
The Group is exposed to commodity price risk due to the fluctuations in prevailing market commodity 
prices. Where and when appropriate the Group will put in place suitable hedging arrangements to 
mitigate the risk of a fall in commodity prices as per the Group’s hedging policy. This will also meet any 
hedging requirements under the RBL. All gas production is currently sold at prices linked to the spot 
market and the significant majority NGL production is sold at prices linked to the spot market. Oil 
production for 2025 will be sold at spot market linked pricing other than 0.4 million barrels at an 
average fixed price of $61 sold in January 2025. 
 
At 31 December 2024 Serica held the following hedging arrangements in place. 
 
Oil hedges 

 2025 2026 
Weighted Average Units Q1-25 Q2-25 Q3-25 Q4-25 Q1-26 Q2-26 Q3-26 Q4-26 

Swap price $/bbl 68 75 75 75 75 - - - 

Collar floor net $/bbl 68 69 68 68 69 - - - 

Total weighted average $/bbl 68 69 69 69 70 - - - 

Collar ceiling $/bbl 96 88 88 86 86 - - - 

Hedged Volume Kboe/d 10 6 6 5 4 - - - 
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Gas hedges 
 2025 2026 
Weighted Average Units Q1-25 Q2-25 Q3-25 Q4-25 Q1-26 Q2-26 Q3-26 Q4-26 

Swap price p/therm 84 87 86 89.6 94 - - - 

Collar floor net p/therm 80 70 70 82 82 64 64 - 

Total weighted average p/therm 81 82 81 85 85 64 64 - 

Collar ceiling p/therm 125 121 121 135 135 99 99 - 

Hedged Volume Kboe/d 4 6 5 7 6 5 5 - 

 
Serica held no fixed price swaps for UKA ETS products at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 
132,000 MT at £79.24/MT).  
 
The following table summarises the impact on the Group’s pre-tax profit and equity from a reasonably 
foreseeable movement in commodity prices on the fair value of commodity based derivative 
instruments held by the Group at the Balance Sheet date.  
 
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 
 
Management assessed that the fair values of cash and short-term deposits, trade receivables, trade 
payables and other current liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term 
maturities of these instruments. As such the fair value hierarchy is not provided. 
 
The table below details the Group’s fair value measurement hierarchy for liabilities and assets as at 
31 December: 

  Fair value measurement using 

  Quoted    

  prices in Significant Significant 

  active observable unobservable 
  markets inputs inputs 
  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Assets/(liabilities) measured at fair value Note $000 $000 $000 
Year ended 31 December 2024     
Derivative financial assets 16 - 5,185 - 
Derivative financial liabilities 16 - (42,386) - 
Contingent consideration 
 liability 

19 - - (49,754) 
Royalty liability 19 - - (32,169) 
     
Year ended 31 December 2023     
Derivative financial liabilities 16 - (5,564) - 
Contingent consideration liability 19 - - (44,923) 
Royalty liability 19 - - (37,828) 
     

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during 2023 or 2024. 
 
Capital management 
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to maintain appropriate levels of funding 
to meet the commitments of its forward programme of exploration, production and development 
expenditure, and to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and create 
shareholder value. At 31 December 2024, capital employed of the Group amounted to $1,015.6 million 
(comprised of $796.5 million of equity shareholders’ funds and $219.1 million of borrowings), 
compared to $1,105.4 million at 31 December 2023 (comprised of $834.2 million of equity 
shareholders’ funds and $271.2 million of borrowings).  
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The Board regularly reassesses the appropriate dividend payments proposed within the capital 
structure of the Group. Any future payment of dividends is expected to depend on the earnings and 
financial condition of the Company and such other factors as the Board considers appropriate.  
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23.  Equity Share Capital 
 
As at 31 December 2024, the share capital of the Company comprised one “A” share of GB£50,000 and 
393,468,407 ordinary shares of US$0.10 each. The “A” share has no special rights.  
  

The balance classified as total share capital includes the total net proceeds (both nominal value and 
share premium) on issue of the Group’s equity share capital, comprising US$0.10 ordinary shares and 
one ‘A’ share.  

 
Allotted, issued and  Share   Share Total Share Merger 
fully paid: Number capital premium capital reserve 
Group ‘000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
      
      

As at 1 January 2023 272,953 27,295 205,965 233,260 - 
(restated*)      
Shares issued 118,368 11,837 160 11,997 283,367 
      

As at 1 January 2024 391,321 39,132 206,125 245,257 283,367 
(restated*)      
Shares issued  2,147 215 65 280 3,223 
      

As at 31 December 2024 393,468 39,347 206,190 245,537 286,590 
      

      
*see note 2 
 
During 2024, 708,505 ordinary shares were issued to satisfy awards under the Company’s share-based 
incentive schemes and a final tranche of 1,438,849 ordinary shares were issued in March 2024 as part 
of the acquisition of Tailwind Energy Investments Ltd in March 2023.  
 
As at 28 March 2025 the issued voting share capital of the Company was 393,568,407 ordinary shares 
and one “A” share. 
 
Group merger reserve 
Merger relief was applied by the Group’s parent entity Serica Energy plc upon the respective issues of 
108,170,426 ordinary shares in March 2023 and 1,438,849 ordinary shares in September 2023, for the 
acquisition of Tailwind Energy Investments Ltd. The valuation of the shares issued was based on the 
fair value at the date of issue, with the nominal value of the shares issued credited to share capital and 
the excess value of $286.6 million (£230.3 million) above nominal share capital credited to a merger 
reserve in the consolidated Group accounts. 
 
Treasury/own shares reserve 
Treasury represent Serica shares repurchased and available for specific and limited purposes. In Q2 
2024 the Company acquired 8,437,478 shares for $18.8 million (£15.0 million) at an average price of 
$2.22 (£1.78 per share). 4,430,193 of the shares in held in treasury were then used to satisfy share 
option awards in 2024 and a balance of 4,007,285 shares included in the reserve of $8,931,000 is held 
at 31 December 2024. 
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24.  Additional Cash Flow Information 
 

Net cash flows from operating activities consist of:   
   
For the year ended 31 December 2024   
  Restated* 
 2024 2023 
 $000 $000 
Operating activities: Note   
Profit for the year  92,429 127,757 
Adjustments to reconcile profit for the year    
to net cash flow from operating activities:    
Taxation charge  68,069 252,614 
Change in fair value liabilities  2,538 9,446 
Change in provisions  601 461 
Gain on acquisition  - (41,889) 
Net finance costs  23,431 10,076 
Depletion and depreciation  188,320 136,551 
Oil and NGL over/underlift   (20,564) (11,545) 
E&E asset write-offs  851 10,871 
Unrealised hedging losses/(gains)  31,814 (25,317) 
Movement in gas contract revenue  - (1,227) 
Contract revenue - other  (31,292) (29,951) 
Share-based payments  3,735 4,942 
Other non-cash movements  (81) 3,859 
Decrease in hedging security advances  - 29,402 
Decrease/(increase) in DSA cash advances  35,055 (35,055) 
Decrease in trade and other receivables  36,170 87,056 
(Increase) in inventories  (1,140) (1,222) 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables   22,286 (56,807) 

Cash inflow from operations  452,222 470,022 
    
Taxation paid  (152,517) (347,588) 
Decommissioning spend  (18,142) (1,115) 
    

Net cash inflow from operating activities  281,563 121,319 
    

*See note 2  
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Reconciliation of movement in net cash flow to movement in    
net cash/(borrowings)   
   Restated* 
  2024 2023 
  $000 $000 
    
Loans assumed upon acquisition - net (note 29)  - (325,827) 
Repayment of borrowings  323,700 102,000 
Proceeds from borrowings  (283,500) (43,200) 
Interest and other loan finance costs paid in year  26,862 18,455 
Arrangement fees  14,069 - 
Amortisation of fees  (2,199) (4,173) 
Interest and other loan finance costs payable in year  (26,862) (18,455) 

Movement in total borrowings (net)  52,070 (271,200) 
    
Movement in cash and cash equivalents  (184,517) (206,257) 

(Decrease) in net cash in the year  (132,447) (477,457) 
    
Opening net cash  64,233 522,914 
Currency translation adjustments  (2,456) (18,776) 

Closing net (debt)/cash  (70,670) 64,233 
    

*See note 2 
 

Analysis of Group net (debt)/cash   
  Restated* 
 2024 2023 
 $000 $000 
    
Cash  123,390 231,904 
Short-term deposits  25,070 103,529 
Loans (net)  (219,130) (271,200) 
    

Closing net (debt)/cash  (70,670) 64,233 
    

*See note 2 
 

  Restated* 
Changes in lease liabilities arising from financing activities 2024 2023 
 $000 $000 
   
Lease liability at beginning of the year 2,360 271 
   
Acquisition during the year - 2,682 
Additions during the year 5,069 - 
Lease payments (2,697) (777) 
Lease interest expense 524 189 
Currency translation adjustment (69) (5) 
   

Lease liability at end of the year 5,187 2,360 

   
*See note 2 
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25.  Share-Based Payments 
 
Share Option Plans 
The Company operates three discretionary incentive share option plans: the Serica Energy plc Long 
Term Incentive Plan (the "LTIP"), which was adopted by the Board on 20 November 2017 which permits 
the grant of share-based awards, the 2017 Serica Energy plc Company Share Option Plan (“2017 
CSOP”), which was adopted by the Board on 20 November 2017, and the Serica 2005 Option Plan, 
which was adopted by the Board on 14 November 2005. Awards can no longer be made under the 
Serica 2005 Option Plan. However, options remain outstanding under the Serica 2005 Option Plan. The 
LTIP and the 2017 CSOP together are known as the "Discretionary Plans". 
  
The Discretionary Plans will govern all future grants of options by the Company to Directors, officers, 
key employees and certain consultants of the Group. The Directors intend that the maximum number 
of ordinary shares which may be utilised pursuant to the Discretionary Plans will not exceed 10% of 
the issued ordinary shares of the Company from time to time in line with the recommendations of the 
Association of British Insurers.  
 
The objective of these plans is to develop the interest of Directors, officers, key employees and certain 
consultants of the Group in the growth and development of the Group by providing them with the 
opportunity to acquire an interest in the Company and to assist the Company in retaining and 
attracting executives with experience and ability. 
 
Serica 2005 Option Plan 
As at 31 December 2024, 300,000 options granted by the Company under the Serica 2005 Option Plan 
were outstanding. All options awarded under the Serica 2005 Option Plan since November 2009 have 
a three-year vesting period. No options were granted in 2023 or 2024 under the Serica 2005 Option 
Plan.  

 
The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and 
movements in, share options during the year: 
 

 
 
Serica 2005 option plan 

2024 
Number 

 
2024 

WAEP 
 

2023 
Number 

2023 
WAEP  

  £  £ 
Outstanding as at 1 January 800,000 0.07 3,900,000 0.14 
Exercised during the year (500,000) 0.07 (3,100,000) 0.16 
     

Outstanding as at 31 December 300,000 0.07 800,000 0.07 

     
Exercisable as at 31 December 300,000 0.07 800,000 0.07 

 
The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding as at 31 December 2024 is 0.5 
years (2023: 1.5 years). The weighted average share price during 2024 across the period that options 
were exercised in was $2.39 (2023: $2.93). 
 
For the Serica 2005 option plan, the exercise price for all outstanding options at the 2024 year-end is 
$0.09 (2023: $0.09). 
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Long Term Incentive Plan 
The following awards granted to certain Directors and employees under the LTIP are outstanding as at 
31 December 2024. 

Performance Share Awards 
Performance Share Awards have a three-year vesting period and are subject to performance 
conditions based on average share price growth targets to be measured by reference to dealing days 
in the period of 90 days ending immediately prior to expiry of a three-year performance starting on 
the date of grant of a Performance Share Award. Performance Share Awards are structured as nil-cost 
options and may be exercised up until the tenth anniversary of the date of grant.  
 

Performance and Retention Share Awards  

2024 
Number 

2023 
Number 

    
Outstanding as at 1 January  9,917,330 13,326,567 
Granted during the year  2,546,134 1,075,668 
Expired or cancelled during the year  (1,297,830) (267,827) 
Exercised during the year  (3,023,117) (4,217,078) 
    

Outstanding as at 31 December  8,142,517 9,917,330 

    
Exercisable as at 31 December  4,604,881 5,718,825 

 
The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding as at 31 December 2024 is 6.7 
years (2023: 5.6 years). The weighted average share price during 2024 across the period that options 
were exercised in was $1.93 (2023: $2.93). 
 
LTIP awards in 2023 
In May 2023, the Company granted nil-cost Performance Share Awards over 1,075,668 ordinary shares 
under the LTIP. The award was made to members of the Group’s executive team and senior 
management.  
 
The vesting criteria are based on absolute share price performance over a three-year period and 
specific performance targets related to carbon emissions from operations over the same period. For 
the awards to vest in full, the highest average share price must be at least equal to 500p during the 
180 day period terminating on the end of the performance period together with a significant decrease 
in carbon emissions per barrel of oil equivalent produced. 745,934 of the total awards were 
outstanding and are not exercisable at 31 December 2024.  
 
LTIP awards in 2024 
In May 2024, the Company granted nil-cost Performance Share Awards over 1,785,363 ordinary shares 
under the LTIP. The award was made to members of the Group’s executive team and senior 
management. 
 
The vesting criteria include sliding scale measures of share price performance (35% weighting) and of 
relative total shareholder return performance (35% weighting), in each case, in respect of a three year 
period ending at the end of April 2027; together with annual emissions intensity targets (30% 
weighting) in respect of 2024, 2025 and 2026. For the awards to vest in full, the 90 day end average 
share price must be at least equal to 400p, the Company's relative total shareholder return 
performance must be at least upper quartile relative performance (relative to a comparator group of 
companies) and an emissions intensity target (relating to CO2e per barrel of oil equivalent from the 
Group's entire producing portfolio of assets) met in respect of each of 2024, 2025 and 2026. 1,518,983 
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of the total awards were outstanding and are not exercisable at 31 December 2024.  
 
In November 2024, the Company granted nil-cost Retention Share Awards over 760,771 ordinary 
shares under the LTIP. The award was made to members of the Group’s senior management. These 
awards are not subject to market conditions and vest after three years of service by the individual. All 
of the total awards were outstanding and are not exercisable at 31 December 2024. 
 
Share-based compensation 
The Company calculates the value of share-based compensation using a Black-Scholes option pricing 
model (or other appropriate model for those options subject to certain market conditions) to estimate 
the fair value of share options at the date of grant. There are no cash settlement alternatives. The 
options granted in 2023 and 2024 were consistently valued in line with the Company’s valuation 
policy. For the options subject to market conditions, assumptions made included a weighted average 
risk-free interest rate of 2%, a weighted average expected life of 5 years, and a volatility factor of 
expected market price of in a range from 55-70%. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that 
the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily be the actual outcome. 
The weighted fair value of options granted during the year was $1.68 (2023: $2.10). The estimated fair 
value of options is amortised to expense over the options' vesting period.  
 
$3,735,000 has been charged to the income statement for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 
$4,932,000) and a similar amount credited to the share-based payments reserve, classified as ‘Other 
reserve’ in the Balance Sheet. The ‘Other reserve’ was comprised solely of the share-based payment 
reserve which totaled $37,540,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: $37,650,000). A charge of $193,000 
(2023: $2,911,000) of the total charge was in respect of key management personnel (defined in note 
7).  
 
 
26.  Leases 
A right of use asset for oil and gas operations (note 13) and its related lease liability were acquired as 
part of the Tailwind acquisition (note 29). This lease is secured by the assets leased and bears interest 
at a fixed rate with repayments due over a 5-year period. The total lease liability at 31 December 2024 
amounts to $1,675,000 of which $683,000 is due for settlement within 12 months and $992,000 due 
after 12 months. A depreciation charge of $1,044,000 (2023: $780,000) was expensed within cost of 
sales. 
 
The Group entered into a five-year lease at its new registered office, 72 Welbeck Street, following the 
expiry of its previous London office lease at 52 George Street. The total lease liability at 31 December 
2024 amounts to $3,512,000 of which $735,000 is due for settlement within 12 months and 
$2,777,000 after 12 months. A depreciation charge of $1,070,000 (2023: $216,000) was expensed 
within administrative expenses in respect of office leases.  
 
$2,697,000 (2023: $777,000) of cash payments made against the lease liabilities during 2024 are 
reflected in the 2024 Group cash flow statement as a cash outflow in financing activities.    
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27.  Capital Commitments and Contingencies 
The Company also has obligations to carry out defined work programmes on its oil and gas properties, 
under the terms of the award of rights to these properties. The Company is not obliged to meet other 
joint venture partner shares of these programmes. 
 
Serica’s planned 2025 investment programme includes two remaining wells from the 2024-25 drilling 
campaign in the Triton Area (Evelyn Phase 2 (EV02) and Belinda) and further capital work on the Bruce 
facilities. At 31 December 2024, the Group had commitments for future capital expenditure relating to 
its oil and gas properties amounting to $249 million, with the majority relating to the Triton Area 
drilling programmes on EV-02 and Belinda wells.  
 
The Group’s only significant exploration commitment is the drilling of a commitment well on Licence 
P2400 (Skerryvore – Serica 20%) to be drilled before October 2025. Given the lack of clarity regarding 
the future fiscal and licencing regime, Serica expects an extension to the licencing period to be granted. 
 
Serica has posted cash collateral of approximately $31.0 million under decommissioning security 
arrangements, in support to the issue of letters of credit required. This secured amount is within the 
Group’s cash balances of $148.5 million as at 31 December 2024. The funds are freely transferable but 
alternative collateral would need to be put in place to replace the cash security. 
 
Other 
The Group occasionally has to provide security for a proportion of its future obligations to defined 
work programmes or other commitments.  
 
28.  Related Party Transactions and Transactions with Directors 
The Group financial statements include the financial statements of Serica Energy plc and its 
subsidiaries listed in note 30. Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiary, 
which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. 
The related party balances have no fixed repayment terms and bore no interest. 
 
The Group’s main related parties comprise the Directors and Mercuria Group entities, the latter being 
related parties due to the significant shareholding of a Mercuria Group subsidiary, Mercuria Holdings 
(UK) Limited, in Serica Energy plc. Balances and transactions with Mercuria Energy Trading S.A., a 
subsidiary of the Mercuria Group are disclosed below. 
 

Balances with related party at year end 
2024 2023 

 $000 $000 
Mercuria Energy Trading S.A.   
Accrued receivables - 26,130 
Other financial liabilities - (5,564) 
Trade and other payables (4,336) (1,815) 
Accruals (8,398) (1,258) 
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On 24 September 2019, the Tailwind sub-group entered in a Junior Facility agreement with Mercuria 
Energy Trading S.A. for a facility of US$50.0 million with a maturity of 24 September 2026. There were 
no drawdowns on this facility as at 31 December 2023. This facility was terminated in January 2024 
following the refinancing of the Group's reserve-based lending facility (note 21). 

 
Transactions in income statement with Mercuria Energy 
Trading S.A. 

 
 

Year ended 31 
December 2024 Year ended 31 

December 2023 
 $000 $000 
   
Revenue 181,124 203,699 
Cost of sales (6,874) (9,493) 
Loss on commodity derivative contracts (1,155) (8,610) 
Gain on currency derivative contracts - 928 
Finance costs (24) (281) 
   

The above transactions were conducted under contracts already in place when Serica acquired 
Tailwind Energy Investments Ltd on 23 March 2023, principally the Offtake and Marketing Agreement 
covering oil offtake from Serica’s share in the Triton area and part of Serica’s share in Columbus. These 
contracts were set on prevailing market terms. 
 
Transactions with North Sea Midstream Partners Limited (‘NSMP’) are also considered related party 
transactions with effect from 1 July 2024, when a director assumed a key management personnel 
position within Serica Energy plc and a close member of his family held a key management position 
within NSMP during 2024. The Group incurred pipeline tariff costs of $13.0 million recorded within 
cost of sales in 2024 and had a trade payable of $2.0 million owed to NSMP at 31 December 2024. 
 
There are no related party transactions, or transactions with Directors that require disclosure except 
for the remuneration items disclosed in the Directors Report and note 7 above. These disclosures 
include the compensation of key management personnel. 
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29.  Acquisition of Tailwind Energy Investments Ltd 
As reported previously in the 2023 Financial Statements, on 23 March 2023, the Company acquired 
100% of the shares of Tailwind Energy Investments Ltd (renamed Serica Energy Investments Ltd) for an 
initial purchase consideration of $373.7 million (£297.4 million). This comprised cash of $75.8 million 
(£61.6 million) and the fair value of 108,170,426 ordinary shares in Serica Energy plc issued in exchange 
for all Tailwind shares. The fair value of the shares issued was calculated using the market price of the 
Company’s shares of £2.18 on the AIM Market of the London Stock Exchange at its opening of business 
on 23 March 2023. 
 
A further 2,877,698 ordinary shares were issued to the sellers in two equal tranches of 1,438,849 
ordinary shares in September 2023 and March 2024 respectively. These formed part of the aggregate 
111,048,124 ordinary shares issued as part of the purchase consideration and were issued after 
periods of no successful warranty claims. 
 
The activities acquired comprised development and production oil & gas assets in the UK North Sea 
held in interests in joint operations and as they constituted a business as defined in IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations, the acquisitions were accounted for as a business combination. The consolidated 2023 
financial statements included the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of 
acquisition 23 March 2023, and the results of the combined transaction assets for the nine-month 
period from the acquisition date. In accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, the fair values of 
the assets and liabilities in the acquisition table below (restated from GBP to US$ - see note 2) were 
final. 
  

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed at date of acquisition Fair value 
   recognised on 
   acquisition 
   $000 
Assets   *Restated 
Property, plant and equipment (note 13)   598,333 
Net deferred tax asset (note 9)   325,924 
Debtors and other assets    83,937 
Inventory   7,520 
Cash and cash equivalents    21,654 

   1,037,368 
Liabilities    
Trade and other payables   (88,331) 
Contract liabilities (note 16)   (66,651) 
Financial liabilities   (4,724) 
Royalty liabilities (note 19)   (42,899) 
Provisions (note 20)   (93,379) 
Interest bearing loans (note 21)   (325,827) 

   (621,811) 
    
Total identifiable net assets at fair value   415,557 

    
Cash consideration   75,831 
Initial consideration shares issued   290,119 
Deferred consideration shares   7,718 

Purchase consideration   373,668 

 
 
 

   
Gain arising on acquisition   41,889 

    
*See note 2 
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Fair value of consideration 
The combined purchase consideration of the transaction was $373.7 million (£303.7 million), which 
comprised cash of $75.8 million (£61.6 million), the fair value of 108,170,426 ordinary shares in Serica 
Energy plc issued in exchange for all Tailwind shares, and the fair value of a further 2,877,698 ordinary 
shares which were issued to the sellers subsequent to the acquisition after the conclusion of periods 
with no successful warranty claims. The fair value of the initial consideration shares issued was 
calculated using the market price of the Company’s shares of £2.18 on the AIM Market of the London 
Stock Exchange at its opening of business on 23 March 2023. The deferred consideration share 
consideration was also valued using the share price on acquisition and this value was considered 
approximate to the fair value. 
 
The excess of fair value of the net assets acquired over the purchase consideration was recognised as 
a gain on acquisition in the 2023 income statement. Transaction costs of $12.5 million were incurred 
in 2023 and expensed in the Income Statement. 
 
30.  Acquisition of interest in Greater Buchan Area 
In February 2024, Serica Energy (UK) Limited acquired JOG Fox Limited (renamed Serica GBA Limited 
during 2024), an entity holding 30% non-operated interests in the P2498 and P2170 licences (together 
the Greater Buchan Area from Jersey Oil & Gas (’JOG’). The interests were subsequently transferred to 
Serica Energy (UK) Limited in October 2024. The partners in the GBA are Serica Energy (UK) Limited 
(30%), NEO Energy (50% and operator) and JOG (20%). This transaction gives Serica the option of 
participating in the re-development of the Buchan field and other potential developments in the GBA. 
The transaction was treated as an asset acquisition as it did not include relevant supplementary and 
other substantive activities beyond the assets acquired to be considered a business combination.  
 
The transaction is structured as a farm-in, with modest up-front and contingent consideration 
payments, and a carry of pre-Financial Investment Decision (“FID”) and development costs.  
 
In return for a 30% working interest in the GBA licences, on completion Serica made a cash payment 
to JOG of $7.7 million (£6 million) which reflected adjustments between buyer and seller to reflect an 
economic date for the transaction of 1 April 2023. This amount is recorded as an Exploration and 
Evaluation asset acquisition cost (see note 12). Serica is not committed under the terms of the 
transaction to participate in the GBA developments. In the event of participation at each relevant 
stage, Serica will make further payments to JOG as follows:  
 

• $7.5 million on approval of the Buchan Horst FDP by the NSTA  

• A 7.5% carry of the Buchan Horst field pre-FID and development costs (paying 37.5% for a 30% 
working interest). The development cost carry is capped at 7.5% of the budget approved by 
the Buchan Joint Venture for the development of the Buchan Horst field at the time of the FDP. 
Subject to the cap, the development cost carry equates to a 1.25 carry ratio for development 
costs; the same as an arrangement previously agreed between JOG and NEO Energy  

• $3 million on approval by the NSTA of a J2 FDP 

• $3 million on approval by the NSTA of a Verbier FDP 
 
Serica’s accounting policy (see note 2) in respect of this asset acquisition is that the cost of asset on 
initial recognition excludes any variable or contingent payments. Accordingly, no liability is currently 
recognised for those contingent amounts.  
 
31.  Subsidiaries 
The Group and the Company (unless indicated) had investments in the following subsidiaries as 
follows: 
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Name of company: Holding 
Nature of 
business 

% voting 
rights and 
shares held  
 
 
 
 
 

% voting 
rights and 
shares held  
 
 
 
 
 

   2024 2023 
Serica Holdings UK Ltd (ii) Ordinary Holding 100 100 
Serica Energy Investments Limited (ii) Ordinary Holding 100 100 
Serica Energy Holdings BV (i & iii) Ordinary Holding 100 100 
Serica Energy (UK) Ltd (i & ii) Ordinary E&P 100 100 
NSV Energy Limited (i & ii) Ordinary Holding 100 100 
Serica Energy Meltemi Limited (i & ii) Ordinary E&P 100 100 
Serica Energy Sirocco Limited (i & ii) Ordinary Holding 100 100 
Serica Energy Chinook Limited (i & ii) Ordinary E&P 100 100 
Serica Energy Mistral Limited (i & ii) Ordinary E&P 100 100 
Serica Energy Bora Limited (i & ii) Ordinary E&P 100 100 
Serica Energy Corporation (i & iv) Ordinary Dormant 100 100 
APD Ltd (i & iv) Ordinary Dormant 100 100 
PDA Asia Ltd (i & iv) Ordinary Dormant 100 100 
Serica UK Exploration Limited (i & ii) Ordinary Dormant 100 100 
PDA (Lematang) Ltd (I, ii and v) Ordinary Dormant - 100 
Serica GBA Limited (i & ii) (note 30) Ordinary Dormant 100 - 
(i) Held by a subsidiary undertaking    
(ii) Incorporated in the UK    
(iii) Incorporated in the Netherlands    
(iv) Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands    
(v) Entity struck off in year    

 
The registered office of Serica Holdings UK Limited, Serica Energy (UK) Limited, Serica Energy 
Investments Limited , Serica Energy Meltemi Limited , Serica Energy Mistral Limited , Serica Energy 
Sirocco Ltd, Serica Energy Chinook Limited, Serica Energy Bora Limited, Serica UK Exploration Limited 
and Serica GBA Limited is 4th Floor, 72 Welbeck Street, London, W1G 0AY. 
 
The registered office of Serica Energy Chinook Ltd is H1 Building, Hill of Rubislaw, Anderson Drive, 
Aberdeen, AB15 6BY. 
 
The registered office of the Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in the Netherlands is Hoogoorddreef 
15, 1101 BA Amsterdam, The Netherlands. 
 
The registered office of APD Ltd and PDA Asia Ltd is P.O. Box 957, Offshore Incorporations Centre, Road 
Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands. The registered office of Serica Energy Corporation is P.O. Box 71, 
Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands. 
 
32.  Events Since Balance Sheet Date 
There have been no  events since the balance sheet date that require disclosure.  
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Serica Energy plc 
Registered Number: 5450950 
Company Balance Sheet 
As at 31 December 2024 

   (Restated*) 
  2024 2023 
 Note $000 $000 
Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment  3,977 55 
Investments in subsidiaries 3 525,803 534,808 

  529,780 534,863 
Current assets    
Trade and other receivables 4 123,456 23,531 
Cash and cash equivalents 5 85,870 153,678 

  209,326 177,209 
    
TOTAL ASSETS  739,106 712,072 

    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 6 11,147 3,276 
Leases  3,512 55 
Financial liabilities 7 - 4,627 
    

TOTAL LIABILITIES  14,659 7,958 
    
NET ASSETS  724,447 704,114 

    
Share capital 8 210,266 209,986 
Merger reserve 8 398,762 395,539 
Other reserve 8 37,540 37,650 
Treasury/own shares 8 (8,931) - 
Accumulated funds  89,325 51,473 
Currency translation reserve  (2,515) 9,466 

TOTAL EQUITY  724,447 704,114 

 
 
 

   
 
The profit for the Company was $157.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: $160.4 
million).  
 
Approved by the Board on 31 March 2025 
 
 
 
 
Chris Cox                           Martin Copeland 
Chief Executive Officer       Chief Financial Officer 
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Serica Energy plc 
Company Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2024 

 
Company Share 

capital 
Merger 
reserve 

Other 
reserve 

 
Treasury/ 

own Shares 

 
Currency 

translation 
Accum’d 

funds Total      
        
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
        

At 1 January 2023 (Restated*) 197,989 112,172 32,708 - (19,582) 1,645 324,932 
        
Profit for the year (Restated*) - - - - - 160,452 160,452 

Total comprehensive income (Restated*) 
(*Restat)e*dincome 

- - - - - 160,452 160,452 
Share-based payments (Restated*)  - - 4,942 - - - 4,942 
Issue of share capital (Restated*)  11,997 283,367 - - - - 295,364 
Dividend paid (Restated*) - - - - - (110,624) (110,624) 
Foreign exchange (Restated*) - - - - 29,047 - 29,047 
        

At 31 December 2023 (Restated*) 209,986 395,539 37,650 - 9,465 51,473 704,113 

        
Profit for the year - - - - - 157,236 157,236 

Total comprehensive income - - - - - 157,236 157,236 
Share-based payments  - - 3,735 - - - 3,735 
Issue of share capital (note 8) 280 3,223 - - - - 3,503 
Treasury shares - - - (18,775) - - (18,775) 
Release of shares - - - 9,844 - (9,844) - 
Share payments - - (3,845) - - 3,845 - 
Dividend paid  - - - - - (113,385) (113,385) 
Foreign exchange - - - - (11,980) - (11,980) 
        

At 31 December 2024 210,266 398,762 37,540 (8,931) (2,515) 89,325 724,447 
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1. Corporate information 
The Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 were authorised for issue 
by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2025 and the balance sheet was signed on the Board’s behalf 
by Chris Cox and Martin Copeland. Serica Energy plc is a public limited company incorporated and 
domiciled in England & Wales with its registered office at 4th Floor, 72 Welbeck Street, London, W1G 
0AY. The principal activity of the Company and its subsidiaries (together the ‘Group’) is to identify, 
acquire and subsequently exploit oil and gas reserves.  
 
2. Accounting Policies 
 
Basis of Preparation 
 
The accounting policies which follow set out those policies which apply in preparing the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024. 
 
The Company financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis and presented in US 
dollars. The Company’s functional currency remains as Pounds Sterling. All values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand US dollars ($000) except when otherwise indicated.  
 
These separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting 
Standard 101, ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ (‘FRS 101’) and the Companies Act 2006. The Company 
meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100, ‘Application of Financial Reporting 
Requirements’ as issued by the Financial Reporting Council. The Company has undergone a transition 
to FRS 101 for the year ended 31 December 2023 and, as permitted by FRS 101, has taken advantage 
of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard in relation to share-based payments, 
financial instruments, fair value measurement, capital management, presentation of comparative 
information in respect of certain assets, presentation of a cash flow statement, standards not yet 
effective, impairment of assets and related party transactions. Where relevant, equivalent disclosures 
have been given in the Group accounts.  
 
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption provided under section 408 of the Companies 
Act 2006 not to publish its individual income statement and related notes. The profit of the parent 
Company was $157,236,000 (2023: $160,452,000). 
 
Change in presentation currency 
 
On 1 January 2024, the Company changed its reporting currency from Pounds Sterling to US Dollars as 
the Company believes that the presentation currency change will give investors and other stakeholders 
a clearer understanding of Serica’s performance over time and align with the presentation currency of 
its peers.  
 
In accordance with IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, this change 
in presentation currency was applied retrospectively and accordingly, prior year comparatives have 
been restated.  
 
Financial information included in the financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 
31 December 2023 has been restated in US Dollars as follows:  

- Assets and liabilities were translated into US Dollars at the rate of exchange ruling at the 
relevant balance sheet date;  

- Income statements and cash flows were translated into US Dollars at average rates of exchange 
for the relevant period; and 

- Share capital, merger reserve, and all other equity items were translated using the rates that 
were used in 2018 when the Company had changed its presentation currency from US Dollars 
to Pounds Sterling, or the subsequent rates prevailing on the date of each relevant transaction 
since.  
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In preparing these financial statements, the exchange rates used in respect of the US Dollars ($) 
and Pounds Sterling (£) are: Pounds Sterling to US Dollar  
 Year ended 31 

December 2024  
Year ended 31 

December 2023 
Year ended 31 

December 2022  
Average for the 
period  

 1.278 1.243 N/A 

At the end of the 
period  

 1.253 1.273 1.209 

 
Going concern  
 
The Directors’ assessment of going concern concludes that the use of the going concern basis is 
appropriate and the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group, and therefore the 
Company, will be able to continue in operation and meet its commitments as they fall due over the 
going concern period. See note 2 of the Group financial statements for further details.  
 
Critical accounting estimates and judgements  
 
The management of the Company has to make estimates and judgements when preparing the financial 
statements of the Company. Uncertainties in the estimates and judgements could have an impact on 
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities and the Company’s results.  
 
The most important judgements and estimates in relation thereto are:  
 
Impairment of investments in subsidiaries  
Management is required to assess the carrying value of investments in subsidiaries in the parent 
company balance sheet for impairment. This requires a judgement whether impairment triggers exist 
that might lead to the impairment of investments in subsidiaries. If a trigger is identified then the 
assessment for impairment requires an estimate of amounts recoverable from oil and gas assets within 
the underlying subsidiaries. 
 
Investments 
In its separate financial statements the Company recognises its investments in subsidiaries at cost less any 
provision for impairment. 
 
Trade and other receivables and contract assets  
Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables and contract assets  
The Company holds inter-company loans with subsidiary undertakings with repayment dates being 
repayable on demand. These inter-company loans are disclosed on the face of the balance sheet. None 
are past due nor impaired. The carrying value of these loans approximates their fair value. The 
expected credit loss on these loans with subsidiary undertakings is expected to be immaterial, both 
on initial recognition and subsequently. 
 
Financial instruments 
Equity 
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded in equity at the proceeds received, net of 
direct issue costs. 
 
Treasury/own shares 
The Company’s holdings in its own equity instruments are shown as deductions from shareholders’ 
equity. Treasury shares represent Serica shares repurchased and available for specific and limited 
purposes. For accounting purposes, shares held in Employee Benefit Trusts to meet the future 
requirements of the employee share-based payment plans are treated in the same manner as treasury 
shares and are, therefore, included in the consolidated financial statements as treasury/own shares. 
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The cost of treasury shares subsequently sold or reissued is calculated on a weighted-average basis. 
Consideration, if any, received for the sale of such shares is also recognised in equity. No gain or loss is 
recognised in the income statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of equity shares.  

 
Foreign currencies  
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency rate ruling at the 
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the foreign currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and differences 
are taken to the income statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost 
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the date of initial transaction. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at 
the date when the fair value was determined. Exchange gains and losses arising are charged to the 
income statement. 
 
 
3.  Investments 

 
 Total 

Company – Investment in subsidiaries $000 
  
Cost:  

At 1 January 2023 (Restated*) 127,251 
  
Acquisitions (Restated*) 387,360 
Foreign exchange (Restated*) 20,197 
  

At 31 December 2023 (Restated*) 534,808 
  
Revisions (811) 
Foreign exchange (8,194) 
  

At 31 December 2024 525,803 
  

Provision for impairment: 

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024 - 

  
Net book amount:  
At 31 December 2024 525,803 

  
At 1 January and 31 December 2023 534,808 

   
At 1 January 2023 127,251 

  
*see note 2 
 
 
Historic reorganisation 
In the Company financial statements, the cost of the investment acquired on an historic reorganisation 
in 2005 was calculated with reference to the market value of Serica Energy Corporation as at the date 
of the reorganisation. As a UK company, under Section 612 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company 
is entitled to merger relief on its share reorganisation with Serica Energy Corporation, and the excess 
of £88,088,000 over the nominal value of shares issued (US$7,475,000) was credited to a merger 
reserve. The merger reserve is adjusted for any write-down in the value of the investment in subsidiary.  
 



 - 88 - 

2023 acquisition of Tailwind Energy Investments Ltd 
Merger relief was applied by the Company upon the issue of ordinary shares in 2023 for the acquisition 
of Tailwind Energy Investments Ltd. The valuation of the shares issued was based on the fair value at 
the date of issue, with the nominal value of the shares issued credited to share capital and the excess 
value above nominal share capital credited to a merger reserve in the Company accounts (see note 8). 
 
Details of the investments in which the Company’s subsidiaries are provided in note 30 of the Group 
financial statements.  
 
Impairment of investments in subsidiaries 
A review was performed for any indication that the value of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries 
may be impaired at the balance sheet date of 31 December 2024 in accordance with the stated policy. 
The Company considers the relationship between its market capitalisation and its book value, among 
other factors, when reviewing for indicators of impairment. As at 31 December 2024, the market 
capitalisation of the Group was below the book value of the Company’s equity, which was assessed by 
management as a trigger for potential impairment of its investments in subsidiaries. 
 
Management has assessed the carrying value of investments in subsidiaries in the parent company 
balance sheet for impairment by reference to the recoverable amount. In assessing whether a write-
down is required in the carrying value of a potentially impaired investment, the investment carrying 
value is compared with its recoverable amount being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use. 
 
Underpinning the Company’s assessment of value in its investments in subsidiaries is the recoverable 
amount of the Group’s CGUs, which represent individual oil and gas fields or a group of fields within a 
production area. These were determined based on a fair value less costs to sell (‘FVLCS’) calculation 
on an income approach using a discounted cash flow model. The projected cash flows are adjusted for 
risks specific to the assets and are discounted using a post-tax discount rate of 9%. Further appropriate 
adjustments were then applied as necessary to determine the recoverable amount of each investment 
held by the Company. The future recoverable amounts of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries 
were assessed against their carrying amounts and no impairment was identified.  
 
The calculation of FVLCS is most sensitive to the following assumptions: reserve estimates, oil and gas 
commodity prices, discount rates and growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows during the forecast 
period. 
 
The Company considers a 10% change in the oil and gas prices and a 1% increase in the post-tax 
discount rate to be reasonable possibilities for the purpose of sensitivity analysis. Based on sensitivities 
performed, there is no risk of a material adjustment to the carrying value of the Company’s 
investments in subsidiaries, because a reasonable change in key assumptions used to determine the 
recoverable amount would not result in an impairment. 
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4.  Trade and Other receivables 
 

 2024 2023 
 $000 $000 
   

Due within one year:   

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 121,776 20,564 
Other receivables 1,680 2,948 
Prepayments and accrued income - 19 
   

 123,456 23,531 

   
 
At the reporting date the amounts owed by Group undertakings to the Company are disclosed net of 
an impairment of $nil (2023: $nil). Amounts previously impaired were written-off in the prior year as 
there was no reasonable expectation of recovery. These amounts have not been secured, have no 
maturity and bear no interest.  
 
The Company holds inter-company loans with subsidiary undertakings being repayable on demand. 
The carrying value of these loans approximates their fair value. The expected credit loss on these loans 
with subsidiary undertakings is expected to be immaterial, both on initial recognition and 
subsequently. 
 
5.  Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 2024 2023 
 $000 $000 
   
Cash at bank and in hand  60,800 112,717 
Short-term deposits 25,070 40,961 
   

Cash and cash equivalents 85,870 153,678 

 
6.  Trade and Other Payables 

   

 2024 2023 
 $000 $000 

Current:   

Amounts owed to Group undertakings 8,205 - 

Trade payables 1,262 1,766 

Other payables 1,358 176 

Accrued expenses 322 1,334 

   

 11,147 3,276 
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7.  Financial liabilities 

 2024 2023 
 $000 $000 

Current:   

Consideration payable - 4,627 

   

 - 4,627 

   
Other consideration reflected the final tranche of deferred consideration payable under the Tailwind 
acquisition. This was settled in March 2024 (note 29 of Group accounts). 
 
8.  Equity Share Capital and Reserves 
 
As at 31 December 2024, the share capital of the Company comprised one “A” share of GB£50,000 and 
393,468,407 ordinary shares of US$0.10 each. The “A” share has no special rights.  
  

The balance classified as total share capital includes the total net proceeds (both nominal value and 
share premium) on issue of the Company’s equity share capital, comprising US$0.10 ordinary shares 
and one ‘A’ share.  

 
Allotted, issued and fully paid:  Share Share  Total 
 Number capital premium Share capital  
Company ‘000 $000 $000 $000 
     

As at 1 January 2023 272,953 27,295 170,694 197,989 
     
Shares issued 118,368 11,837 160 11,997 
     

As at 1 January 2024 391,321 39,132 170,854 209,986 
     
Shares issued  2,147 215 65 280 
     

As at 31 December 2024 393,468 39,347 170,919 210,266 
     

     
Company merger reserve 
Merger relief was applied by the Company upon the issue of ordinary shares for the acquisition of 
Tailwind Energy Investments Ltd in 2023. The valuation of the shares issued was based on the fair value 
at the date of issue, with the nominal value of the shares issued credited to share capital and the 
excess value above nominal share capital credited to a merger reserve in the Company accounts. 
 
Treasury/own shares reserve 
Treasury represent Serica shares repurchased and available for specific and limited purposes. In Q2 
2024 the Company acquired 8,437,478 shares for $18.8 million (£15.0 million) at an average price of 
$2.22 (£1.78 per share). 4,430,193 of the shares in held in treasury were then used to satisfy share 
option awards in 2024 and a balance of 4,007,285 shares included in the reserve of $8,931,000 is held 
at 31 December 2024. 
 
Other reserve 
The ‘Other reserve’ was comprised solely of the share-based payment reserve which totaled 
$37,540,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: $37,650,000). 
 
9. Auditor’s remuneration  
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Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company and Group financial statements 
are disclosed in note 6 of the Group financial statements.  
 
10. Directors’ remuneration  
 
The emoluments of the Directors are paid to them in their capacity as Directors of the Company for 
qualifying services to the Company and the Group. Further information is provided in note 7 of the 
Group financial statements. The directors do not believe it is practicable to apportion these amounts 
between their services as directors of the Company and their services as directors of the operating 
group subsidiary entities. 
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Reconciliation of non-IFRS measures 
Serica uses certain measures of performance that are not specifically defined under IFRS or other 
generally accepted accounting principles (’GAAP’). These non-IFRS measures, which are presented 
within the financial review, are defined below: 
 
EBITDAX: Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation, impairments, transaction costs, 
unrealised hedging expenses, FX translation effects, asset revaluation effects, other noncash gains or 
expenses and exploration expenditure. This is a useful indicator of underlying business performance 
and the definition adopted by Serica is consistent with that stipulated in the Group’s reserve based 
lending (“RBL”) facility. A reconciliation from Operating Profit to EBITDAX is provided below: 

    Restated* 

$000      2024 2023 

Operating Profit   186,467            399,893                    

Add Back Transaction Costs                           -    12,539                      

Add Back DD&A   187,250                136,335                      

Add Back Depreciation in G&A   1,070 216 

Add Back E&E Expenses and licence costs   2,446                 13,493                         

Deduct contract revenue - other   (31,292) (29,951)                     

Add Back/(Deduct) Unrealised Hedging   31,814                (25,317) 

(Deduct)/Add Back FX Effects/Remeasurements   (2,633)                   4,926                         

Add back share based payments   3,735                  4,942                         

Deduct Gain on Acquisition   -                           (41,889)                     

EBITDAX      378,857              475,187 

* See note 2     
 
Capital Expenditure (Capex and Abex): Comprises the cash spend (prior to tax allowances) on the 
acquisition of PP&E assets, the purchase of exploration and appraisal assets and decommissioning 
spend. Depicts how much the Group has spent, on a cash basis, on purchasing fixed assets in order to 
further its business goals and objectives. It is a useful indicator of the Group’s organic expenditure on 
oil and gas assets, and exploration and appraisal assets, incurred during a period on a pre-tax basis. 

    Restated* 
$000     2024 2023 

Purchase of PP&E Assets  249,050              85,626                      

Purchase of E&E Assets  11,123                12,027                        

Decommissioning Spend  18,142                  1,112                              

Capital Expenditure     278,315 
                     

98,765 

* See note 2     
 
Adjusted CFFO less tax: comprises Cash inflow from Operations adjusted by the current tax charge for 
the year as reflected in Note 9 and also excludes cash movement arising from the return or posting of 
security deposits for decommissioning and hedging. Serica considers that this is a useful measure of 
the cash generation of the business after tax charge more directly related to the activity of the period, 
prior to the decisions made by the Group in relation to capital allocation. 

     Restated* 
$000       2024 2023 

Cash inflow from operations   452,222         
                   

470,022 

Less current tax (excluding prior year adjustments)                 (14,191) 
                 

(225,839) 

Changes in DSA advances   (35,055) 35,055 

Changes in hedging security advances   - (29,402) 

Adjusted CFFO less tax   402,976 249,836 
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* See note 2      
 
Free cash flow: net cash flow from operating activities less cash used in investing activities (excluding 
acquisition costs) and financing activities. This measure is considered a useful indicator of the Group’s 
ability to invest, repay the Group’s debt and meet other payment obligations. Group free cash flow 
reconciles to net cash flow from operating activities as follows: 

     Restated* 

$000       2024 2023 

Net cash flow from operating activities  281,563 
               

121,319        

Net cash flow from investing activities  (253,911) 
                

(135,000)       

Net cash flow from financing activities  (213,278) 
                 

(192,576)      

Adjusted by:      

Repayment of loans and borrowings (net)                40,200 58,800 

Facility fees and interest  12,300 - 

Proceeds from issue of shares (net of costs)  (280) (996) 

Payment of dividends/share buyback             132,160    
                                 

110,391    

Acquisition Costs                           -    
                     

54,177    

Free Cash flow     (1,246)               16,115 

 
Adjusted Net cash / (debt): Total cash and cash equivalents plus the balance of amounts of cash 
security temporarily lodged in respect of DSAs prior to the finalisation of the RBL recognised on the 
consolidated balance sheet less the drawn balance under RBL. This is an indicator of the Group’s 
indebtedness and contribution to capital structure. 

   Restated* 
$000   2024 2023 

Interest bearing loans  (219,130) 
                 

(271,200) 

Add back unamortised fees            (11,870)                               -    

Cash and cash equivalents            148,460 
                   

335,433  

DSA cash                     -        
                     

35,055  

Adjusted Net (Debt)/Cash              (82,540) 
                     

99,288  

* See note 2    
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GLOSSARY 
AIM Alternative Investment Market 

bbl barrel of 42 US gallons 

bcf billion standard cubic feet 

boe  barrels of oil equivalent (barrels of oil, condensate and LPG plus the heating 
equivalent of gas converted into barrels at the appropriate rate) 

BKR Bruce, Keith and Rhum fields 

CGU Cash Generating Unit 

CPR 
CSOP 

Competent Persons Report 
Company Share Options Plan  

DD&A Depreciation, Depletion and Amortisation 

DTA Deferred Tax Asset 

EBITDAX Earnings Before Interest Depreciation Amortisation and Exploration 

EPL Energy Profits Levy 

ETS 
FID 
FDP 

Emissions Trading Scheme 
Final Investment Decision 
Field Development Plan 

GBA Greater Buchan Area 

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards 

JOA Joint Operating Agreement 

LTIP Long Term Incentive Plan 

LWIV Light Weight Intervention Vessel 

mmbbl million barrels 

mmboe million barrels of oil equivalent 

NBP National Balancing Point 

NGLs Natural gas liquids extracted from gas streams 

NSTA North Sea Transition Authority 

NTS National Transmission System 

Overlift Volumes of oil or NGLs sold in excess of volumes produced 

P50 A best estimate that there should be at least a 50% probability that the quantities 
recovered will actually equal or exceed the estimate 

P90 A low estimate that there should be at least a 90% probability that the quantities 
recovered will actually equal or exceed the estimate 

PPA Purchase Price Allocation 

Proved 
Reserves 

Proved reserves are those Reserves that can be estimated with a high degree of 
certainty to be recoverable. It is likely that the actual remaining quantities recovered 
will exceed the estimated proved reserves 

Probable 
Reserves 

Probable reserves are those additional Reserves that are less certain to be recovered 
than proved reserves. It is equally likely that the actual remaining quantities 
recovered will be greater or less than the sum of the estimated proved + probable 
reserves 

Possible 
Reserves 

Possible reserves are those additional Reserves that are less certain to be recovered 
than probable reserves. It is unlikely that the actual remaining quantities recovered 
will exceed the sum of the estimated proved + probable + possible reserves 

RBL Reserves Based Loan 

Reserves Estimates of discovered recoverable commercial hydrocarbon reserves calculated in 
accordance with the revised June 2018 Petroleum Resources Management System 
(PRMS) version 1.01 

Tcf trillion standard cubic feet 

TCFD Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures 

Underlift Volumes of oil or NGLs produced but not yet sold 

UKCS United Kingdom Continental Shelf 

 


